http://www.oblible.com

Prospectus dated January 6, 2022



AXA

Issue of EUR 1,250,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Ordinary Subordinated Notes due 2042 under the EUR 18,000,000,000

Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Series No.: 44 Tranche No.: 1

Issue Price: 99.271 per cent.

The EUR 1,250,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Ordinary Subordinated Notes due 2042 (the **Notes** and each a **Note**) will be issued by AXA (**AXA** or the **Issuer**) under its EUR 18,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the **Programme**) pursuant to a base prospectus dated March 26, 2021. The Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer, as described under "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Status of the Notes and Subordination*". This prospectus constitutes a prospectus (the **Prospectus**) for the purposes of Article 6.3 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 (the **Prospectus Regulation**). This Prospectus

contains information relating to the issue by AXA of the Notes. The Notes will bear interest at the rate of 1.875 per cent. *per annum* from, and including, January 10, 2022 (the **Issue Date**) to, but excluding, July 10, 2032 (the **First Reset Date**). Thereafter, the Notes will bear interest at a rate of 2.60 per cent. *per annum* above 3-month EURIBOR being the Euro-zone inter-bank offered rate for three-

month Euro deposits from, and including, the First Reset Date to, but excluding, the Final Maturity Date (as defined in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Interpretation – Definitions*"). There will be a short first Fixed Interest Period (as defined in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Interpretation – Definitions*") from, and including, the Issue Date to, but excluding, huly 10, 2022. Thereafter, fixed rate interest will be payable annually in arrear on huly 10 in each year, commencing on huly 10, 2023, and floating rate interest.

excluding, July 10, 2022. Thereafter, fixed rate interest will be payable annually in arrear on July 10 in each year, commencing on July 10, 2023 and floating rate interest will be payable quarterly in arrear on or about October 10, January 10, April 10 and July 10 in each year commencing on or about October 10, 2032.

Under certain circumstances as set out in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Interest – Interest Deferral", interest payments on the Notes may be deferred at the option of the Issuer or will be required to be deferred.

The Issuer may, at its option, redeem all or some only, of the Notes on (i) any day falling in the period from (and including) January 10, 2032 (the **First Call Date**) to (and including) the First Reset Date or (ii) on any Interest Payment Date thereafter, at their Redemption Amount, provided that on such date the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase (as defined in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Redemption and Purchase – Conditions to Redemption and Purchase*") are fulfilled.

Under certain circumstances set out in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Redemption and Purchase", the Notes may be subject to early redemption or exchange or variation.

The Notes are scheduled to be redeemed at the Redemption Amount on the Scheduled Maturity Date (as defined in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Interpretation – Definitions*"), provided that on such date the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled, failing which the Notes will only be redeemed on the Final Maturity Date. The Notes are expected to be rated BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings, acting through S&P Global Ratings, Europe Limited (**S&P Global Ratings**), A3(hyb) by Moody's France SAS (**Moody's**) and BBB by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited (**Fitch**). Each of S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch is established in the European Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit agencies as amended by Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011 (the **CRA Regulation**) and is included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website as of the date of this Prospectus¹. S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch are not established in the United Kingdom and are not registered in accordance with Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the **UK CRA Regulation**). The ratings of the Notes have been endorsed by S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, Moody's Investors Service Ltd. and Fitch Ratings Ltd, respectively, in accordance with UK CRA Regulation and have not been withdrawn. As such, the ratings issued by each of S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch may be used for regulatory purposes in the United Kingdom in accordance with the UK CRA Regulation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

This Prospectus has been approved as a prospectus by the *Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier* (the **CSSF**), as competent authority under the Luxembourg Law of July 16, 2019 (the **Prospectus Law 2019**) implementing the Prospectus Regulation. The CSSF only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Approval by the CSSF should not be considered as an endorsement of the Issuer or of the quality of the Notes. By approving this Prospectus, in accordance with Article 6 (4) of the Prospectus Law 2019, the CSSF does not engage in the economic or financial opportunity of the operations contemplated by this Prospectus or the quality and solvency of the Issuer. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Notes. Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instrument Directive 2014/65/EU.

This Prospectus is valid until January 6, 2023; in the event of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies, the obligation of the Issuer to supplement the Prospectus will apply only until the Notes are admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market, pursuant to Article 12(1) of the Prospectus Regulation.

The Notes will be in bearer form and in the denominations of EUR 100,000 each and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof up to (and including) EUR 199,000. The Notes will initially be represented on issue by a temporary bearer global note (the **Temporary Bearer Global Note**), without interest coupons, which will be deposited on or about the Issue Date with a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (**Euroclear**) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (**Clearstream**). Interests in the Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable for interests in a permanent bearer global Note (the **Permanent Bearer Global Note**), without interest coupons, on or after February 9, 2022, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interests in the Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable for Notes in definitive form with interest coupons attached only in certain limited circumstances.

Amounts payable under the Notes are calculated by reference to EURIBOR which is provided by the European Money Markets Institute (EMMI). As at the date of this Prospectus, the EMMI appears on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the Benchmarks Regulation).

This Prospectus is to be read and construed in conjunction with all documents which are incorporated herein by reference. See "Documents Incorporated by Reference" of this Prospectus.

An investment in the Notes involves certain risks. For a description of these risks, see "Risk Factors".

Global Coordinators and Joint Lead Managers

Citigroup

Joint Lead Managers

Natixis

Barclays Deutsche Bank BofA Securities J.P. Morgan

¹ http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs

IMPORTANT CONSIDERATIONS

This Prospectus is to be read and construed in conjunction with the documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference" below) which have previously been published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu) and which shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus (except to the extent so specified in, or to the extent inconsistent with, this Prospectus).

In this Prospectus unless otherwise provided, (i) the **Company**, the **Issuer**, **AXA** and/or **AXA SA** refer to AXA, a société anonyme organised under the laws of France which is the publicly traded parent company of the AXA Group, and (ii) **AXA Group** and/or the **Group** and/or **we** refer to AXA SA together with its direct and indirect consolidated subsidiaries.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge of the Issuer, the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any of the Joint Lead Managers (as defined in "Selling Restrictions"). Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor the offering, sale or delivery of the Notes shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Issuer or the Group since the date hereof or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Issuer or the Group since the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with this Prospectus is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same. For the avoidance of doubt, the content of the websites mentioned in this Prospectus does not form part of this Prospectus.

Other than in relation to the documents which are deemed to be incorporated by reference (see "Documents Incorporated by Reference"), the information on the websites to which this Prospectus refers does not form part of this Prospectus unless that information is incorporated by reference into the Prospectus and has not been scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

The Joint Lead Managers have not separately verified the information relating to the Issuer or the Group contained in this Prospectus. None of the Joint Lead Managers makes any representation, express or implied, or accepts any responsibility, with respect to the accuracy or completeness of any of the information relating to the Issuer or the Group in this Prospectus or any responsibility for any acts or omissions of the Issuer or any other person in connection with the Prospectus or the issue and offering of Notes. This Prospectus is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers that any recipient of this Prospectus should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Prospectus and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Joint Lead Managers undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Prospectus nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Joint Lead Managers.

The distribution of this Prospectus and the offering or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes are required by the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restriction. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the **Securities Act**) or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. For a description of certain restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and on distribution of this Prospectus, see "Selling Restrictions".

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers to subscribe for, or purchase, any Notes.

This Prospectus may only be used for the purpose for which it has been published.

Prospective investors should have regard to the factors described under the section headed "Risk Factors" or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. This Prospectus identifies in general terms certain information that a prospective investor should consider prior to making an investment in the Notes. However, a prospective investor should conduct its own thorough analysis (including its own accounting, legal and tax analysis) prior to deciding whether to invest in any Notes as any evaluation of the suitability for an investor of an investment in the Notes depends upon a prospective investor's particular financial and other circumstances, as well as on the specific terms of the Notes and, if it does not have experience in financial, business and investment matters sufficient to permit it to make such a determination, it should consult its financial adviser on the suitability of the Notes prior to deciding to make an investment.

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- (a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Prospectus or any applicable supplement;
- (b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial and other situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential Investor's Currency (as defined herein);
- (d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets and with the regulatory framework applicable to the Issuer; and
- (e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) the Notes are legal investments for it, (ii) the Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any of the Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

The Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally purchase complex financial instruments as part of a wider financial structure rather than as stand alone investments. They purchase complex financial instruments as a way to reduce risk or enhance yield with a measured and appropriate addition of risk to their overall portfolios, and only after performing intensive analysis of all involved risks. A potential investor should not invest in Notes - which are complex financial instruments - unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting

effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of the following: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended (**MiFID II**); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the **Insurance Distribution Directive**), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of of offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore and the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore and Economic Area may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

PROHIBITION OF SALES TO UNITED KINGDOM RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom (**UK**). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of the following: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (**EUWA**); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (**FSMA**) and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the **UK PRIIPs Regulation**) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the UK may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / PROFESSIONAL INVESTORS AND ELIGIBLE COUNTERPARTIES ONLY TARGET MARKET – Solely for the purposes of each manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in MiFID II; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a **distributor**) should take into consideration the manufacturers' target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturers' target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

SINGAPORE SFA PRODUCT CLASSIFICATION – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289 of Singapore), as modified or amended from time to time (the **SFA**), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Notes are "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and "Excluded Investment Products" (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF THE NOTES, NATIXIS (THE **STABILISING MANAGER**) (OR A PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER) MAY OVER-ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THE STABILISING MANAGER (OR A PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF A STABILISING MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILISATION ACTION. ANY STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE NOTES IS MADE AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE EARLIER OF 30 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE NOTES AND 60 CALENDAR DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE NOTES. ANY STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE STABILISING MANAGER (OR A PERSON ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND RULES.

CERTAIN INFORMATION ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

The Group's audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 and AXA's unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the half-year ended June 30, 2021 (the **Consolidated Financial Statements**) are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (**IFRS**), as endorsed by the European Union and published in Euro. Unless otherwise stated, all amounts in this Prospectus are (i) expressed in Euro, with applicable foreign exchange rates presented on page 40 of the 2020 Universal Registration Document (as defined under "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*") and page 15 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report, and (ii) presented in millions for convenience. Such amounts may have been rounded. Rounding differences may exist, including for percentages.

This Prospectus incorporates by reference the Consolidated Financial Statements which are included in Part 6 of the 2020 Universal Registration Document (as defined under "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*") and Part 2 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report and have been prepared in compliance with IFRS and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are endorsed by the European Union before the balance sheet date with a compulsory date of January 1, 2020. The Group does not use the "carve out" option allowing it not to apply all hedge accounting principles required by IAS 39.

All references in this document to **U.S. Dollars**, **USD**, **U.S.**\$ and \$ refer to the currency of the United States of America and to Euro, euro, EUR and € refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

In this Prospectus, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to a law or a provision of a law is a reference to that law or provision as extended, amended or re-enacted.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus (and the information incorporated by reference therein) may include statements with respect to future events, trends, plans, expectations or objectives and other forward-looking statements relating to the Group's future business, financial condition, results of operations, performance, and strategy. Forward-looking statements are not statements of historical fact and may contain the terms "may", "will", "should", "continue", "aims", "estimates", "projects", "believes", "intends", "expects", "plans", "seeks" or "anticipates", or words of similar meaning. Such statements are based on Management's current views and assumptions and, by nature, involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties; therefore, undue reliance should not be placed on them. Actual financial condition, results of operations, performance or events may differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements, due to a number of factors including, without limitation, general economic and political conditions and competitive situation; future financial market performance and conditions, including fluctuations in exchange and interest rates; frequency and severity of insured loss events, and increases in loss expenses; mortality and morbidity levels and trends; persistency levels; changes in laws, regulations and standards; the impact of acquisitions and disposal, including related integration issues, and reorganization measures; and general competitive factors, in each case on a local, regional, national and/or global basis. Many of these factors may be more likely to occur, or more pronounced, as a result of catastrophic events, including weather-related catastrophic events, pandemics events or terrorist-related incidents. Please refer to Part 5 – "Risk factors and risk management" of the 2020 Universal Registration Document for a description of certain important factors, risks and uncertainties that may affect AXA's business and/or results of operations, particularly in respect of the COVID-19 crisis. AXA undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any of these forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new information, future events or circumstances or otherwise, except as required by applicable laws and regulations.

This Prospectus refers to certain non-GAAP financial measures, or alternative performance measures (**APMs**), used by Management in analyzing the Group's operating trends, financial performance and financial position and providing investors with additional information that Management believes to be useful and relevant regarding the Group's results. These non-GAAP financial measures generally have no standardized meaning and therefore may not be comparable to similarly labelled measures used by other companies. As a result, none of these non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, the Group's Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS and incorporated by reference herein. The non-GAAP financial measures used by the Group are defined in the Glossary set forth on pages 479 to 483 of the 2020 Universal Registration Document and the 2020 French Universal Registration Document, on pages 60 to 67 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report and on pages 63 to 71 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents

Page

RISK FACTORS	9
GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES	21
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	
OVERVIEW OF THE FORM OF THE NOTES	41
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	
USE OF PROCEEDS	72
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS	73
TAXATION	108
SELLING RESTRICTIONS	109
GENERAL INFORMATION	113

RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors, together with the risk factors incorporated by reference in this Prospectus (on pages 212 to 232 of the 2020 Universal Registration Document, see section "Documents Incorporated by Reference"), may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with the Notes are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes may occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus (including any documents incorporated by reference herein) and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Words and expressions defined in "Overview of the Form of the Notes" *and* "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" *shall have the same meanings when used in this section* "Risk Factors".

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE ISSUER

Please refer to pages 212 to 232 (with the exclusion of the section entitled "Risk related to the ownership of the Company's shares") of the 2020 Universal Registration Document which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE NOTES

The following paragraphs describe the risk factors that the Issuer believes to be material to the Notes to be issued in order to assess the risks associated with the Notes. Therefore, they do not describe all potential risks of an investment in the Notes.

Risks related to the structure of the Notes

The Issuer's obligations under the Notes are subordinated

The Issuer's obligations under the Notes will be unsecured and subordinated and will rank junior in priority of payment to all unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (including any Senior Notes). Although the Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable Notes which are not subordinated, there is a real risk that an investor in the Notes will lose all or some of his investment should the Issuer become insolvent.

The ranking of the Notes will evolve as follows:

• Prior to the Existing Subordinated Notes Redemption Date

The Notes and any relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and *pari passu* with any other existing or future direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer with a specified maturity date (including, without limitation, those which are expressed to be senior subordinated obligations of the Issuer with a specified maturity date (including, without limitation, those which are expressed to be senior subordinated obligations of the Issuer with a specified maturity date) and shall be subordinated to all direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (including any Senior Notes), but shall rank in priority to any Undated Subordinated Notes, any Undated Subordinated Obligations, any *prêts participatifs* (within the meaning of Articles L.313-13 *et seq.* of the French *Code monétaire et financier*) granted to the Issuer, any *titres participatifs* (within the meaning of Articles L.228-36 *et seq.* of the French *Code de commerce*) issued by the Issuer and any Deeply Subordinated Notes issued by the Issuer.

The Notes shall also rank in priority to any class of share capital, whether represented by ordinary shares or preference shares (*actions de préférence*) issued by the Issuer.

• From (and including) the Existing Subordinated Notes Redemption Date

The Notes constitute Ordinary Subordinated Notes. The Notes and any relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsecured and ordinary subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and *pari passu* with any other Ordinary Subordinated Obligations, and shall be subordinated to:

- all direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (including any Senior Notes); and
- all direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank senior to the Ordinary Subordinated Obligations (including, without limitation, any Senior Subordinated Notes),

in each case outstanding from time to time, but shall rank in priority to any subordinated obligations of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank junior to the Ordinary Subordinated Obligations, any *prêts participatifs* granted to the Issuer, any *titres participatifs* issued by the Issuer and any Deeply Subordinated Notes issued by the Issuer.

The Notes shall also rank in priority to any class of share capital, whether represented by ordinary shares or preference shares (*actions de préférence*), issued by the Issuer.

For the purposes hereof:

Existing Subordinated Note means any note of any of the issues listed in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (see "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Status of the Notes and Subordination*"), provided that should the terms and conditions of the notes of any such issues be amended in any way which would result in the Issuer being able to issue subordinated notes ranking senior to such issues, then such issues would, from (and including) the effective date of such amendment, be deemed to no longer constitute an Existing Subordinated Note.

Existing Subordinated Notes Redemption Date means the first day upon which no Existing Subordinated Note remains outstanding.

Long-term securities

The Notes are scheduled to be redeemed at par on the Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to July 10, 2042 (the **Scheduled Maturity Date**), provided that on such date the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled, failing which the redemption of the Notes will be postponed (see "*Potential postponement of the Scheduled Maturity Date*" below).

The Issuer is under no obligation to redeem the Notes at any time before this time, and the holders of the Notes have no right to call for their redemption.

Potential postponement of the Scheduled Maturity Date

The Scheduled Maturity Date will be postponed if the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are not fulfilled on the Scheduled Maturity Date and the Notes will only be redeemed on the Final Maturity Date, where the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled.

Therefore, Noteholders may receive their investment back at a later point in time than initially expected.

If the Notes are not redeemed on the Scheduled Maturity Date for the reasons set out above, Noteholders will – subject to any compulsory or optional deferral – continue to receive interest but will not receive any additional compensation for the postponement of the redemption.

Under certain conditions, payments of interest under the Notes may be deferred

In certain cases including where (i) no dividends in any form on ordinary or preference shares of the Issuer are declared or paid in the six months preceding the Interest Payment Date, (ii) the own funds regulatory

capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group is not sufficient to cover its capital requirements or (iii) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has notified the Issuer that it has determined, in view of the Issuer's financial condition, that the Issuer must take specified action in relation to payments under the Notes, the Issuer may elect, or be obliged, to defer the payment of interest on the Notes, in which case such interest shall constitute Arrears of Interest, which shall not itself bear interest. Any non-payment of interest and/or Arrears of Interest shall not constitute a default by the Issuer and Noteholders will not be able to accelerate the maturity of their Notes as a result of such non-payment.

Any deferral of interest payments will be likely to have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes. In addition, as a result of the above provisions of the Notes, the market price of the Notes may be more volatile than the market prices of other debt securities on which original issue discount or interest accrues that are not subject to the above provisions and may be more sensitive generally to adverse changes in the Issuer's financial condition.

Issuer optional redemption, exchange or variation of the Notes for regulatory reasons and rating reasons

The Notes will be issued with the intention of being eligible as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, such terminology as is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups). If as a result of any change in the relevant laws and regulations, or any change in the official interpretation thereof, the proceeds of the Notes would cease being eligible as provided for above, the Issuer reserves the right to exchange or vary the Notes so that after such exchange or variation they would be so eligible. Alternatively, the Issuer reserves the right, under the same circumstances and subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase, to redeem the Notes early.

However, the Notes may not be redeemed for regulatory reasons prior to January 10, 2027, unless (i) the Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality or (ii) (x) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement, after the redemption, will be exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group, including the Issuer's medium-term capital management plan) and (y) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Supervisory Authority that the Regulatory Event was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date of the Notes and (z) the Relevant Supervisory Authority considers such change in the regulatory classification of the Notes to be sufficiently certain. For the avoidance of doubt, the conditions set out in paragraph (ii) above are deemed to be fulfilled once the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority.

The Notes may also be redeemed, exchanged or varied further to a change in the methodology of a Rating Agency as a result of which the equity content of the Notes is materially reduced when compared to that assigned on or about the Issue Date.

However, the Notes may not be redeemed for rating reasons prior to January 10, 2027, unless (but only if and to the extent so required or otherwise as provided by the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations at the time of such redemption or purchase) the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality.

Whilst the terms of the exchange or variation are required not to be materially prejudicial to the Noteholders (as a class), there can be no assurance that the Qualifying Securities will not have a significant adverse impact on the price of, and/or market for, the Notes or the circumstances of individual Noteholders.

In addition, with respect to the Clean-up Call Option, there is no obligation under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes for the Issuer to inform investors if and when the 80 per cent. threshold have been, or are about to be, reached, and the Issuer's right to redeem such Notes will exist notwithstanding that immediately prior to the serving of a notice in respect of the exercise of the Clean-up Call Option, the Notes may have been trading significantly above par, thus potentially resulting in a loss of capital invested.

Early redemption risk

Subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase, the Issuer may redeem the Notes in whole, or in part, on (i) any day falling in the period from (and including) the First Call Date to (and including) the First Reset Date or (ii) on any Interest Payment Date thereafter.

The Issuer may also, at its option and subject to the satisfaction of the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase, redeem the Notes in whole but not in part upon the occurrence of certain events, including tax reasons, a Regulatory Event, a Rating Methodology Event, an Accounting Event and a Clean-up Call Option, as further described in *"Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Redemption and Purchase"*. Such redemption options will be exercised at the principal amount of the Notes together with interest accrued to the date of redemption (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Arrears of Interest (if any) thereon at such date).

The optional redemption feature of the Notes may affect the market value of the Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, the market value of the Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This may also be true prior to the First Call Date.

If the Issuer elects to redeem the Notes, Noteholders may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in securities offering a comparable yield.

The Issuer is not required to redeem the Notes for tax reasons

There is uncertainty as to whether gross-up obligations in general, including those under the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, are enforceable under French law. If the obligations to pay additional amounts under Condition 8(b) are held to be illegal or unenforceable under French law, the Issuer will have the right, but not the obligation, to redeem the Notes. Accordingly, if the Issuer does not redeem the Notes upon the occurrence of an event as described in Condition 7(b)(i), Noteholders may receive less than the full amount due under the Notes, and the market value of the Notes may be adversely affected.

The Notes may not be redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(b)(i) (where a Redemption Alignment Event has occurred) prior to January 10, 2027, unless (i) the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality or (ii) (x) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement, after the redemption, will be exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group, including the Issuer's medium-term capital management plan) and (y) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Supervisory Authority that the Withholding Tax Event or Gross-up Event is material and was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date of the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, the conditions set out in paragraph (ii) above are deemed to be fulfilled once the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority.

Except in circumstances where a Redemption Alignment Event has occurred, the Notes may not be redeemed following a Withholding Tax Event pursuant to Condition 7(b)(i) prior to January 10, 2032, unless the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality.

Capital requirements for "tier two" instruments: Solvency II and Proposed EU Directive on Recovery and Resolution of Insurance Undertakings

The Solvency II Directive 2009/138/EC, as amended, was implemented under French law and has entered into force on January 1, 2016. The European Commission's Solvency II Delegated Regulation 2015/35 supplementing Solvency II came into force on January 18, 2015 and is directly applicable to the relevant insurers in the European Union. This regulation was modified by the Commission's Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/981 dated March 8, 2019, which entered into force on July 8, 2019. The effect of the implementing measures related to the Solvency II requirements could have adverse consequences on the Noteholders. In particular:

- the Issuer will be obliged to defer interest payments if the own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer is not sufficient to cover its capital requirement;
- in the same circumstances, the redemption or purchase of Notes will be only permitted subject to the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority.

Even though "level two" implementation measures have been enacted and "level three" guidelines have been released, there can be no assurance that such implementation measures and guidelines will not be amended, supplemented or superseded. Moreover, there is considerable uncertainty as to how regulators, including the French *Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de Résolution*, will interpret the "level two" implementation measures and/or "level three" guidance and apply them to the Issuer or the Group.

Any change that may occur in the interpretation and/or application of Solvency II Directive 2009/138/EC subsequent to the date of this Prospectus and/or any subsequent change to such rules may individually and/or in aggregate adversely affect the calculation of the Issuer's solvency capital requirement (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such requirement by the then applicable Solvency II regulations) and may result in more onerous regulatory capital requirements for the Issuer and thus increase the risk of deferral of interest payments, or result in the occurrence of a Regulatory Event and subsequent redemption of the Notes by the Issuer, as a result of which a Noteholder could lose all or part of the value of their investment in the Notes.

Investors should be aware that the Solvency II Directive 2009/138/EC is currently subject to international regulatory guidance and reform proposals. For example, on September 22, 2021, the European Commission published its proposed directive amending the Solvency II Directive 2009/138/EC with respect to, among others, supervision, reporting, macro-prudential tools and sustainability risks. On September 22, 2021, the European Commission also published its proposed directive on the recovery and resolution of insurance undertakings (proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of insurance and reinsurance undertakings and amending Directives 2002/47/EC, 2004/25/EC, 2009/138/EC, (EU) 2017/1132 and Regulations (EU) No 1094/2010 and (EU) No 648/2012) (IRRD). If adopted in its current form, the proposed IRRD would provide for (i) a variety of preventive measures to reduce the likelihood of insurance undertakings requiring public financial support and (ii) the commencement of resolution procedures when insurance or reinsurance undertakings are failing or likely to fail, where there is no prospect that private sector alternatives or supervisory measures would prevent such failure. The proposed IRRD provides, in case of resolution, for the application of a number of resolution tools, such as write-down and conversion, which would allow resolution authorities to write down or convert capital instruments, debt instruments and other eligible liabilities of insurance undertakings, generally in inverse order of their ranking in liquidation, so that the tool would apply first to equity instruments, then tier 1 instruments, then tier 2 instruments (such as the Notes), and then to other instruments with a higher ranking in liquidation. If the resolution tools, including the bail-in tool, within the proposed IRRD are adopted in their current form, Noteholders could be affected and lose all or part of their investment in the Notes if the Issuer and/or the Group were to experience financial difficulty and be failing or likely to fail. In addition, if the Issuer's and/or the Group's financial condition deteriorates, or is perceived to deteriorate, the existence of these powers could cause the market value and/or the liquidity of the Notes to decline more rapidly than would be the case in the absence of such powers.

No Events of Default

The Noteholders should be aware that the Terms and Conditions of the Notes do not contain any events of default provision which means there is no right of acceleration of the Notes in the case of non-payment of principal or interest on the Notes or of the Issuer's failure to perform any of its obligations under the Notes. Payment of principal and interest on the Notes shall be accelerated only if a judgment is issued for the judicial liquidation *(liquidation judiciaire)* of the Issuer or if the Issuer is liquidated for any other reason.

No limitation on issuing or guaranteeing debt, including debt ranking senior to, or pari passu with, the Notes

Apart from the Programme size limit referred to on the cover page of this Prospectus, there is no restriction under the Programme on the amount of unsecured debt which the Issuer may issue. The Issuer and its subsidiaries and affiliates may incur additional indebtedness or grant guarantees in respect of indebtedness of third parties, including indebtedness or guarantees that rank senior in priority of payment to, or *pari passu* with the Notes. If the Issuer's financial condition were to deteriorate, the relevant Noteholders could suffer direct and materially adverse consequences, including deferral of interest and, if the Issuer were liquidated (whether voluntarily or involuntarily), loss by the relevant Noteholders of all or a portion of their investment.

Fixed interest rate risk

From the Issue Date to the First Reset Date, the Notes will bear interest at a fixed rate. Investment in the Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of the Notes during this period.

Floating interest rate risk

From the First Reset Date to the Final Maturity Date, the Notes will bear interest at a floating rate, being a rate of 2.60 per cent. *per annum* above 3-month EURIBOR. As a consequence, interest income on the Notes cannot be anticipated. Due to varying interest income, investors are not able to determine a definite yield of the Notes at the time they purchase them, so that their return on investment cannot be compared with that of investments having longer fixed interest periods. Investors are exposed to reinvestment risk if market interest rates decline. That is, investors may reinvest the interest income paid to them only at the relevant lower interest rates then prevailing. In addition, the Issuer's ability to issue fixed rate notes may affect the market value and the secondary market (if any) of the Notes (and *vice versa*).

The margin on the Notes will not change throughout the Floating Interest Periods but there will be a quarterly adjustment of the reference rate (3-month EURIBOR) which itself will change in accordance with general market conditions. Accordingly, the market value of the Notes may be volatile if changes, particularly short term changes, to market interest rates can only be reflected in the interest rate of the Notes upon the next periodic adjustment of the reference rate.

Reform and regulation of "benchmarks"

Investors should be aware that interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks" are the subject of recent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective while others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause EURIBOR to perform differently than in the past, to be subject to revised calculation methods or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and market value of and return on any Notes linked to such "benchmark".

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the **EU Benchmarks Regulation**) was published in the Official Journal of the European Union on June 29, 2016 and most of the provisions of the EU Benchmarks Regulation have applied since January 1, 2018. The EU Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the EU. The EU Benchmarks Regulation was recently amended by Regulation (EU) 2021/168 of February 10, 2021 (the **Amending Regulation**), which (i) introduces a harmonised approach to deal with the cessation or wind-down of certain benchmarks by conferring on the European Commission or competent national authorities the power to designate a statutory replacement for certain benchmarks, resulting in such benchmarks being replaced in contracts and financial instruments that have not been renegotiated before the date of cessation of the relevant benchmarks and contain either no contractual replacement (or so-called "fallback provision") or a fallback provision which is deemed unsuitable by the European Commission or competent national authorities; (ii) extended the transitional provisions applicable to third-country benchmarks until the end of 2023; and (iii) empowered the European Commission to further extend this transitional period until the end of 2025, if necessary.

Among other things, it (i) requires benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered and to comply with extensive requirements in relation to the administration of "benchmarks" and (ii) prevents certain uses by EU supervised entities of "benchmarks" provided by administrators that are not authorised/registered.

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on the Notes, including that the methodology or other terms of the EURIBOR could be changed in order to comply with the requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, amongst other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing, or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of EURIBOR.

These provisions could have a significant negative impact on the value or liquidity of, and return on, the Notes in the event that the fallback provisions in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes are deemed unsuitable. However, there are still uncertainties about the exact implementation of these provisions pending the implementing acts of the European Commission. Such developments may also create uncertainty regarding any future legislative or regulatory requirements arising from the implementation of delegated regulations.

More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks" could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the following effects on certain "benchmarks" (including EURIBOR): (i) discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to certain "benchmarks", (ii) trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain "benchmarks" or (iii) lead to the disappearance of certain "benchmarks". Any of these changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international, national or other proposals for reform or other initiatives, could have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and value of and return on any Notes linked to EURIBOR.

Whilst alternatives to EURIBOR for use in the bond market (including €STR (the Euro Short Term Rate)), are being developed, the Notes will only transition away from EURIBOR in accordance with their particular fallback arrangements in their terms and conditions. The operation of any such fallback arrangements could result in a less favourable return for Noteholders than they might receive under other similar securities which contain different or no fallback arrangements (including which they may otherwise receive in the event that legislative measures or other initiatives (if any) are introduced to transition from EURIBOR to an alternative rate).

In certain situations, including the relevant benchmark (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) ceasing to be administered, the fallback arrangements referenced in the preceding paragraph will include the possibility that:

- A. the Floating Rate of Interest (or, as applicable, relevant component part thereof) could be set or, as the case may be, determined by reference to a successor rate or an alternative rate (as applicable); and
- B. an adjustment spread may be applied to such successor rate or alternative rate (as applicable),

in each such case, determined by an Independent Adviser (acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner) appointed by the Issuer, as more fully described in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The use of any successor rate or alternative rate (including with the application of an adjustment spread) is likely to result in Notes initially linked to or referencing the original reference rate performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Floating Rate of Interest) than they would do if the original reference rate were to continue to apply in its current form.

No consent of the Noteholders shall be required in connection with determining any successor rate or alternative rate (as applicable) or any other related adjustments and/or amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes (or any other document) which are made in order to give effect to any successor rate or alternative rate (as applicable).

In certain circumstances, the ultimate fallback for a particular Floating Interest Period, including where no successor or alternative rate (as applicable) is determined, may result in the rate of interest for the last preceding Floating Interest Period being used for the following Floating Interest Period.

This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for the Notes during any Floating Interest Period. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of successor rates and alternative rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of any relevant rate could affect the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations under the Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under the Notes. Investors should note that the Independent Adviser will adjust the relevant successor rate or alternative rate (as applicable) in the circumstances described above. Any such adjustment could have unexpected commercial consequences and there can be no assurance that any such adjustment will be favourable to Noteholders.

Investors should consider all of these matters, consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation reforms, when making any investment decision with respect to the Notes.

The terms of the Notes contain a waiver of set-off rights

Holders of Notes waive any right of set-off, compensation and retention in relation to such Notes. As a result, Noteholders will not at any time be entitled to set-off the Issuer's obligations under the Notes against obligations owed by them to the Issuer. Therefore, Noteholders may not receive any amount in respect of their claims or any amount due under the Notes.

Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Bearer Notes

The Notes have denominations consisting of a minimum denomination of EUR 100,000 plus one or more higher integral multiples of EUR 1,000. It is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of EUR 100,000. In such a case a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than EUR 100,000 in its account with the relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of EUR 100,000 such that its holding amounts to EUR 100,000. Further, a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than EUR 100,000 in its account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a Definitive Bearer Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive Bearer Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of EUR 100,000 such that its holding amounts to a denomination.

If Definitive Bearer Notes are issued, Noteholders should be aware that Definitive Bearer Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of EUR 100,000 may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Risks related to the Notes generally

French Insolvency Law

As a *société anonyme* incorporated in France and having its interests in France, French insolvency laws could apply to the Issuer. Under French insolvency laws, in the case of the opening in France of an accelerated safeguard procedure (*procédure de sauvegarde accélérée*) or a safeguard procedure (*procédure de sauvegarde*) or a judicial reorganisation procedure (*procédure de redressement judiciaire*) or a judicial liquidation procedure (*procédure de liquidation judiciaire*) in respect of the Issuer, creditors of the Issuer (including Noteholders) must file their proof of claims with the creditors' representative or liquidator, as the case may be, within two months (or within four months in the case of creditors domiciled outside metropolitan France) of the publication of the opening judgment of the procedure in the BODACC (*Bulletin officiel des annonces civiles et commerciales*).

As part of a safeguard procedure or a judicial reorganisation procedure, the affected parties (i.e. creditors and equity holders whose rights are affected by the proposed restructuring plan) may be grouped into classes of affected parties reflecting sufficient commonality of economic interest based on objective verifiable criteria (the establishment of creditor classes is not mandatory under certain thresholds (see below) applicable to the debtor company and its subsidiaries). As part of an accelerated safeguard procedure, the establishment of affected parties' classes would however be mandatory.

The allocation of affected parties among classes is carried out by the court-appointed judicial administrator. In this context and should they be directly affected by the proposed restructuring plan, Noteholders would therefore be members of a class of affected parties (the "**Relevant Class of Affected Parties**") (although it cannot be excluded that the Noteholders are divided into more relevant classes of affected parties based on objective and ascertainable criteria), potentially along with other affected parties.

In addition, Noteholders should be aware that the receiver (*administrateur judiciaire*) is required to comply with subordination agreements (which should include any subordination provision contained in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) when allocating affected parties into classes. The receiver must disclose the method of allocation of affected parties into classes and the computation of voting rights thereof and the interested Holder may dispute the same before the relevant procedure's supervisory judge (*juge commissaire*).

The Relevant Class of Affected Parties will deliberate on the draft safeguard plan (*projet de plan de sauvegarde*), the draft accelerated safeguard plan (*projet de plan de sauvegarde accélérée*) or the draft judicial reorganisation plan (*projet de plan de redressement*), as applicable, and may further agree to:

- increase the liabilities (*charges*) of the relevant affected parties (including the Noteholders) by rescheduling due payments and/or partially or totally writing off claims;
- a differentiated treatment between affected parties as appropriate under the circumstances; and/or
- convert debt claims (including the Notes) into shares or securities that give or may give right to share capital.

The Relevant Class of Affected Parties would vote on the proposed plan at a two-third majority (calculated as a proportion of the relevant claims or rights held by affected parties of the Relevant Class of Affected Parties expressing a vote). In this case, the provisions applicable to the Relevant Class of Affected Parties deliberations shall prevail over the provisions relating to the meetings of the Noteholders described in *"Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver"* set out in this Prospectus and the Agency Agreement.

However, a restructuring plan may be also adopted despite the negative vote of the Relevant Class of Affected Parties on the proposed plan through the court-imposed cross-class cram-down mechanism.

In order for the court to impose a cross-class cram-down, various conditions must be met, including the following conditions:

- the debtor has consented to the cross-class cram-down if the plan has been submitted as part of an accelerated safeguard procedure or a safeguard procedure. As part of a reorganisation procedure any affected party is entitled to request the application of the cross-class cram-down mechanism;
- the plan has been approved by a majority of classes (provided that at least one of those classes is a class of secured creditors or a class ranking senior to the class of ordinary unsecured creditors) or, failing that, by at least one class (other than a class of equity holders or any other class which is "out of the money");
- (iii) the "best interests of creditors" test is complied with (according to which any affected party which has voted against the plan should not be in a less favourable situation than it would have been in the event of a judicial liquidation, a disposal plan or a better alternative solution);
- (iv) the "absolute priority rule" is complied with (according to which the claims of a dissenting class must be fully discharged (by identical or equivalent means) when a junior class is entitled to a payment or retain an interest under the plan). The court may, however, waive this rule under certain conditions;
- (v) affected parties benefit from an equal treatment and are treated in proportion to their claim or right;
- (vi) no class of affected parties is entitled under the plan to receive or retain more than the full amount of their claims or interest; and

(vii) provided that new financings are necessary to the restructuring plan, these would not entail excessive harm to the interests of the affected parties.

In a judicial reorganisation procedure, in the absence of the adoption of a plan through the classes' mechanism, creditors would be consulted individually on a plan proposal. As part of this individual consultation, the court has the possibility to impose a debt term out on dissenting creditors (including a Noteholder), which may be up to 10 years.

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions relating to the meetings of the Noteholders described in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver*" set out in this Prospectus and the Agency Agreement will not be applicable to the extent they are not in compliance with compulsory insolvency law provisions that apply in these circumstances. The procedures, as described above or as these may be amended, could have an adverse impact on Noteholders seeking repayment in the event that the Issuer was to be subject to French insolvency procedures.

The preventive and insolvency procedures in France are regulated by the provisions of the French *Code de commerce* as amended by ordinance n°2021-1193 dated 15 September 2021 and its implementation decree n°2021-1218 dated 23 September 2021, which is notably transposing directive (EU) 2019/1023 dated 20 June 2019, and which entered into force on 1 October 2021. These provisions would govern the common rights, interests and representation of the Noteholders in this context. As a result, Noteholders should be aware that they would generally have limited ability to influence the outcome of an accelerated safeguard (*procédure de sauvegarde accélérée*), a safeguard (*procédure de sauvegarde*) or a judicial reorganisation procedure (*procédure de redressement judiciaire*) of the Issuer in France.

The commencement of preventive or insolvency procedures against the Issuer may have a material adverse effect on the market value of Notes issued by the Issuer. Any decisions taken by the Relevant Class of Affected Parties or a class of creditor, as the case may be, could substantially impact the Noteholders and even cause them to lose all or part of their investment, should they not be able to recover amounts due to them from the Issuer.

The Notes being held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, investors will have to rely on the clearing system procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer

The Notes will be deposited with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream. Except in the circumstances described in the Global Notes, investors will not be entitled to receive Definitive Bearer Notes. Euroclear and Clearstream will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes. While the Notes are in global form, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be.

While the Notes are in global form, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to, or to the order of, the common depositary. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Note must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, as the case may be, to receive payments under the Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in such a Global Note.

Effect of resolutions passed at the meetings of the Noteholders

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

Taxation

Potential purchasers and sellers of the Notes should be aware that they may be required to pay taxes or documentary charges or duties in accordance with the laws and practices of the jurisdiction where the Notes are transferred or other jurisdictions, which may have an impact on the net income received from the Notes. In some jurisdictions, no official statements of the tax authorities or court decisions may be available for financial instruments such as the Notes. Potential investors cannot rely upon the tax overview incorporated by reference in this Prospectus and should ask for their own tax adviser's advice on their individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, holding, disposal and redemption of the Notes. Only

these advisors are in a position to duly consider the specific situation of the potential investor. This investment consideration has to be read in connection with the taxation sections of this Prospectus.

Change in law

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by English law or, in the case of Condition 4 (paragraphs (a) and (b)), French law, in each case, in effect as at the date of this Prospectus. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law, French law or administrative practice after the date of this Prospectus. Any such decision or change could be unfavourable to creditors' rights, including those of the Noteholders. If any change in law turns out to be unfavourable to the Issuer and/or the Noteholders, it could have a negative impact on the market value of the Notes.

Risks related to the market generally

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks

The Notes are expected to be rated BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings², A3(hyb) by Moody's³ and BBB by Fitch⁴. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension and withdrawal by the assigning credit agency at any time.

Market value of the Notes

The market value of the Notes will be affected by the creditworthiness of the Issuer and/or that of the AXA Group and a number of additional factors, including, but not limited to, market interest and yield rates and the time remaining to the Final Maturity Date.

The value of the Notes depends on a number of interrelated factors, including economic, financial and political events in France, in the United Kingdom (notably following Brexit) or elsewhere, including factors affecting capital markets generally and the stock exchanges on which the Notes are traded. The price at which a Noteholder will be able to sell the Notes prior to maturity or in the case of an early redemption, as the case may be, may be at a discount, which could be substantial, from the issue price or the purchase price paid by such purchaser.

Liquidity risks/Trading market for the Notes

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of Notes.

This may have a negative impact on the liquidity of the Notes and result in low trading volumes. The degree of liquidity of the Notes may negatively impact the price at which an investor can dispose of the Notes where the investor is seeking to achieve a sale within a short timeframe. Investors may not be able to sell Notes readily or at prices that will enable investors to realise their anticipated yield. The purchased Notes may not be readily sellable and the value of Notes may fluctuate over time and such fluctuations may be significant.

² Obligations rated "BBB" by S&P are obligations which exhibit adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

³ Obligations rated "A" by Moody's are considered upper-medium-grade and are subject to low credit risk. Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category. Additionally, a "(hyb)" indicator is appended to all ratings of hybrid securities issued by banks, insurers, finance companies, and securities firms.

⁴ Obligations rated "BBB" by Fitch indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in Euro (the **Specified Currency**). This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the **Investor's Currency**) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency vould decrease (i) the Investor's Currency equivalent yield on the Notes, (ii) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES

The following General Description of the Notes does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Prospectus. Any decision to invest in the Notes should be based on a consideration of this Prospectus as a whole, including the documents incorporated by reference. Words and expressions defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" or elsewhere in this Prospectus shall have the same meanings in this General Description of the Notes. References to a numbered "Condition" shall be to the relevant Condition in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

Issuer:	AXA.		
Legal Entity Identifier (LEI):	F5WCUMTUM4RKZ1MAIE39		
Risk Factors:	obligations ι which are m	ertain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its under the Notes. In addition, there are certain factors naterial for the purpose of assessing the market risks with the Notes. These are set out under " <i>Risk Factors</i> "	
Notes:	EUR 1,250,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Ordinary Subordinated Notes due 2042.		
Global coordinators and Joint Lead Managers:	Citigroup Glo	obal Markets Europe AG and Natixis	
Joint Lead Managers:	Barclays Bank Ireland PLC BofA Securities Europe SA Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft J.P. Morgan AG		
Principal Paying Agent:	BNP Paribas	Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch.	
Paying Agents:	BNP Paribas Securities Services and BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch.		
Luxembourg Listing Agent:	BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch.		
Issue Date:	January 10, 2022.		
First Call Date:	January 10, 2032.		
First Reset Date:	July 10, 2032.		
Scheduled Maturity Date:	The Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to July 10, 2042.		
Final Maturity Date:	The Final Maturity Date means:		
	(i)	if on the Scheduled Maturity Date the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled, the Scheduled Maturity Date;	
	(ii)	otherwise, the first Interest Payment Date following the Scheduled Maturity Date on which the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled.	
Issue Price:	99.271 per cent.		
Status of the Notes:	The Notes and any relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsecured and ordinary subordinated obligations of the Issuer, as provided in " <i>Terms and Conditions of the Notes - Status of the Notes and Subordination</i> ". The status of the Notes may change during the		

	life of such Notes as described in " <i>Terms and Conditions of the Notes</i> - <i>Status of the Notes and Subordination</i> ".
Fixed Rate of Interest and Fixed Interest Payment Dates:	The Notes will bear interest from and including the Issue Date to but excluding the First Reset Date, at the rate of 1.875 per cent. <i>per annum</i> , payable annually in arrear on July 10 in each year, commencing on July 10, 2022 (each, a Fixed Interest Payment Date). There will be a short first Fixed Interest Period, from, and including, the Issue Date to, but excluding, July 10, 2022.
Floating Rate of Interest and Floating Interest Payment Dates:	Unless previously redeemed, the Notes will bear interest at a rate of 2.60 per cent. <i>per annum</i> above 3-month EURIBOR being the Euro- zone inter-bank offered rate for three-month Euro deposits, from and including, the First Reset Date to but excluding the Final Maturity Date, payable quarterly in arrear on or about October 10, January 10, April 10 and July 10 in each year, commencing on October 10, 2032 (each, a Floating Interest Payment Date and, together with the Fixed Interest Payment Dates, the Interest Payment Dates).
Interest Deferral:	On any Optional Interest Payment Date the Issuer may elect, and on any Mandatory Interest Deferral Date the Issuer will be obliged, to defer the payment of all (but not some only) of the interest on the Notes. Notwithstanding that an Interest Payment Date may be a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date, interest may still be paid on such Interest Payment Date to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations and subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.
	For the purpose hereof:
	Applicable Supervisory Regulations means the Solvency II Directive as implemented in France, the Solvency II Regulation and any other capital requirements or regulatory capital rules (including the guidelines and recommendations of the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (or any successor authority), the official application or interpretation of the Relevant Supervisory Authority and any applicable decision of any court or tribunal) from time to time in effect in France (or if the Issuer becomes domiciled in a jurisdiction other than France, such other jurisdiction) and applicable to the Issuer and/or the Group (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups) which would

requirements of internationally active insurance groups), which would lay down the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments for inclusion at least in "tier two" own funds regulatory capital, as opposed to "tier one" own funds regulatory capital or "tier three" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept), for single solvency and group solvency purposes of the Issuer.

Compulsory Interest Payment Date means each Interest Payment Date prior to which, during a period of six months prior to such Interest Payment Date, a dividend in any form on any ordinary or preference shares of the Issuer has been declared or paid, unless such Interest Payment Date constitutes a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date.

Mandatory Interest Deferral Date means each Interest Payment Date in respect of which the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent have been notified by the Issuer that (i) a Regulatory Deficiency has occurred and such Regulatory Deficiency is continuing on such Interest Payment Date or (ii) the payment of such interest would of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency.

Optional Interest Payment Date means any Interest Payment Date other than a Compulsory Interest Payment Date or a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date.

Regulatory Deficiency means that:

- (i) the own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group is not sufficient to cover its capital requirements (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the applicable solvency requirement (SCR Solvency capital or Capital Requirement), the applicable minimum capital requirement (MCR) or any applicable capital requirements for internationally active insurance groups) (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such requirement by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) whichever occurs earlier; or
- (iii) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has notified the Issuer that it has determined, in view of the financial condition of the Issuer, that in accordance with the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations at such time, the Issuer must take specified action in relation to payments under the Notes,

in each case without taking into account any Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority being granted on an exceptional basis with respect to the payment of interest and/or Arrears of Interest on, or the redemption or purchase of, the Notes.

- Arrears of Interest: Any interest in respect of the Notes not paid on an Interest Payment Date and deferred shall so long as the same remains outstanding, constitute **Arrears of Interest**. Arrears of Interest may, subject to the fulfilment of the Conditions to Settlement, at the option of the Issuer, be paid in whole or in part at any time but all Arrears of Interest in respect of all Notes for the time being outstanding shall become due in full on whichever is the earliest of:
 - (i) the next Interest Payment Date which is a Compulsory Interest Payment Date; or
 - (ii) the date of any redemption of the Notes in accordance with the provisions relating to redemption of the Notes; or
 - (iii) the date upon which a judgment is made by a competent court for the judicial liquidation of the Issuer (*liquidation judiciaire*) or for the sale of the whole of the business (*cession totale de l'entreprise*) following an order of judicial reorganisation (*redressement judiciaire*) in respect of the Issuer or in the event of the liquidation of the Issuer for any other reason.

Conditions to Settlement are satisfied on any day with respect to any payment of Arrears of Interest, if any, if (i) the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority and (ii) no Regulatory Deficiency has occurred and is continuing or would be caused by such payment. Notwithstanding that a Regulatory Deficiency may have occurred and be continuing on the date due for payment of Arrears of Interest, or if such payment would of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency, Arrears of Interest may still be paid at any time to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations and subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.

- Benchmark Discontinuation: If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to the Reference Rate, such that the rate of interest (or any component part thereof) cannot be determined by reference to Reference Rate, then the Issuer may (subject to certain conditions) be permitted to substitute such benchmark for a successor, replacement or alternative benchmark (with consequent amendment to the terms of the Notes and the application of an adjustment spread (which could be positive or negative or zero)). See Condition 5(b)(vii) for further information.
- Redemption: The Notes may not be redeemed or purchased other than in accordance with the terms described hereafter, and any redemption or purchase is subject to the fulfilment of the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase (as described below).
- Redemption at Maturity: Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at the Redemption Amount on the Final Maturity Date.
- Redemption at the option of the Issuer may, at its option, redeem all or some only of the Notes the Issuer: The Issuer may, at its option, redeem all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on (i) any day falling in the period from (and including) the First Call Date to (and including) the First Reset Date or (ii) any Interest Payment Date thereafter at their Redemption Amount.

Redemption Amount means EUR 1,000 per Calculation Amount, together with interest accrued up to but excluding the date of redemption, including Arrears of Interest, if any.

Optional Redemption for Tax Reasons: (i) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Taxation*", (ii) the Issuer would be prevented by French law from making payments of additional amounts as provided in "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes* – *Taxation*", or (iii) the part of the interest payable by the Issuer under the Notes or Coupons that is tax-deductible is reduced, in each case as a result of (a) any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of France or any political subdivision of, or any authority in, or of, France having power to tax, or (b) any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, the Issuer may, subject to certain conditions, redeem the Notes at any time in whole, but not in part, at their Redemption Amount.

Optional Redemption, Exchange or Variation for Regulatory Reasons: Upon the occurrence of a Regulatory Event with respect to the Notes, the Issuer may at any time after the occurrence of such event, (i) redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, at their Redemption Amount or (ii) as an alternative thereto, without the consent of the Noteholders but subject to certain conditions:

- (a) exchange the Notes for Qualifying Securities; or
- (b) vary the terms of the Notes so that they become Qualifying Securities,

so that in either case the aggregate nominal amount of the Qualifying Securities is treated under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital.

A **Regulatory Event** will occur if, on or after the Issue Date, the Relevant Supervisory Authority has notified the Issuer:

- that under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations, the Notes (in whole or in part) would not be treated at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups); or
- (ii) that under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations, the Notes (in whole or in part) no longer fulfil the requirements in order to be treated at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups), provided that on the Issue Date or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, the Notes did fulfil the requirements for inclusion at least in the determination of the "tier two" own funds regulatory capital of the Issuer and/or the Group,

except where in the case of each of (i) and (ii), this is merely the result of exceeding any applicable limits on the inclusion of such securities in at least the "tier two" own funds regulatory capital of the Issuer and/or the Group pursuant to the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations.

Qualifying Securities means securities that:

- (i) maintain at least the same ranking in liquidation, same interest rate and interest payment dates;
- (ii) as far as the redemption of the Notes is concerned, preserve the obligations of the Issuer, including (without limitation) as to timing of, and amounts payable upon, such redemption, provided that such Qualifying Securities may not be redeemed by the Issuer prior to the First Call Date (save for redemption, exchange or variation on terms analogous with the terms of *"Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Redemption and Purchase"*); and
- (iii) maintain the same rights to accrued interest and/or Arrears of Interest (and Arrears of Interest accrued on the Notes originally issued, if any, which will be transferred respectively to such Qualifying Securities), maintain the same rights to principal and interest without any additional principal loss

absorption via a write-down or conversion into ordinary shares of the principal amount, as the Notes.

Optional Redemption, Exchange or Variation for Rating Reasons:

If at any time the Issuer determines that a Rating Methodology Event has occurred with respect to the Notes, the Issuer may at any time after the occurrence of such event, (i) redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, at their Redemption Amount or (ii) as an alternative thereto, without the consent of the Noteholders but subject to certain conditions:

- (i) exchange the Notes for Qualifying Securities; or
- (ii) vary the terms of the Notes so that they become Qualifying Securities.

Rating Methodology Event will be deemed to occur upon a change in the methodology of a Rating Agency (or in the interpretation of such methodology) as a result of which the equity content previously assigned by such Rating Agency to the Notes is, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, materially reduced when compared to the equity content assigned by such Rating Agency on or about the Issue Date or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes.

Optional Redemption for Upon the occurrence of an Accounting Event with respect to the Notes, the Issuer may, at any time after the occurrence of such event, redeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, at their Redemption Amount.

Accounting Event means that an opinion of a recognised accountancy firm of international standing has been delivered to the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent, stating that as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the Applicable Accounting Standards the Notes must not, or must no longer be, recorded as "liabilities" in the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and this cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking such reasonable measures it (acting in good faith) deems appropriate.

Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer: In the event that at least 80 per cent. of the initial aggregate nominal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any further securities issued pursuant to Condition 16 will be deemed to have been originally issued) have been redeemed and/or purchased and cancelled, the Issuer may, at its option (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders) and subject to Condition 7(j), having given not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all, but not some only, of the remaining Notes then outstanding, at their Redemption Amount together with accrued interest (including Arrears of Interest) up to but excluding the date of redemption (the "Clean-up Call Option").

Conditions to Redemption and Purchase: Any redemption or purchase of the Notes is subject to the conditions (in addition to others as described herein) that (i) the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority; (ii) no Regulatory Deficiency has occurred and is continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase and such redemption or purchase would not of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency and (iii) if and to the extent required under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations in order for the Notes to be treated at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital, no Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up has occurred and is continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase.

Notwithstanding that a Regulatory Deficiency and/or an Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up may have occurred and be continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase, or if such redemption or purchase would of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency, the Notes may still be redeemed or purchased on such date to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations and, in each case, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions.

The Notes may not be:

- (i) redeemed following the occurrence of a Rating Methodology Event and an Accounting Event, prior to January 10, 2027 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes; or
- (ii) purchased and cancelled as provided in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Redemption and Purchase – Purchases" prior to January 10, 2027 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes; or
- (iii) redeemed following the occurrence of a Regulatory Event, prior to January 10, 2027 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes; or
- (iv) redeemed following the occurrence of a Withholding Tax Event (as defined in Condition 7(b)(i)) (where a Redemption Alignment Event has occurred), a Gross-up Event (as defined in Condition 7(b)(i)) and a Tax Deductibility Event (as defined in Condition 7(b)(ii)) prior to January 10, 2027 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes; or
- (v) redeemed following the occurrence of a Withholding Tax Event (where a Redemption Alignment Event has not occurred), prior to January 10, 2032 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling ten years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes;

unless:

for (i) and (ii): (but only if and to the extent so required or otherwise as provided by the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations at the time of such redemption or purchase) the relevant redeemed or purchased Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality,

for (iii), (i) the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality or (ii) (x) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement, after the redemption, will be exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group, including the Issuer's medium-term capital management plan) and (y) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Supervisory Authority that the Regulatory Event was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date of the Notes or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes and (z) the Relevant Supervisory Authority considers such change in the regulatory classification of the Notes to be sufficiently certain,

for (iv), (i) the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality or (ii) (x) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement, after the redemption, will be exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group, including the Issuer's medium-term capital management plan) and (y) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Supervisory Authority that the Withholding Tax Event, Gross-up Event or Tax Deductibility Event is material and was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date of the Notes or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes,

and for (v), the relevant redeemed or purchased Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality.

For the purpose hereof:

Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up means:

- (i) the winding-up of any Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking within the Group; or
- (ii) the appointment of an administrator of any Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking within the Group,

in each case, where the Issuer has determined, acting reasonably and in consultation with the Relevant Supervisory Authority, that the assets of that Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking within the Group may or will not be sufficient to meet all claims of the policyholders pursuant to a contract of insurance of that Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking which is subject to a winding-up or administration process (and for these purposes, the claims of policyholders pursuant to a contract of insurance shall include all amounts to which policyholders are entitled under applicable legislation or rules relating to the winding-up of Insurance Undertakings or Reinsurance Undertakings that reflect any right to receive or expectation of receiving benefits which policyholders may have).

Insurance Undertaking has the meaning ascribed to it in the Solvency II Directive.

Redemption Alignment Event will be deemed to have occurred if at any time prior to January 10, 2032 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling ten years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, the Issuer determines, in consultation with the Relevant Supervisory Authority, that the option to redeem the Notes following a Withholding Tax Event pursuant to Condition 7(b)(i), without such redeemed Notes being required to be replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality, would not cause the Notes to no longer fulfil the requirements in order to be treated under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups) and the Issuer gives not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice of such determination to the Noteholders.

Reinsurance Undertaking has the meaning ascribed to it in the Solvency II Directive.

				Solvency II Directive.
Events Default:	of	Default/Cross		None.
Negative Pledge:			None.	
Meetings of Holders Modifications:		Holders	ders and	The Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Holders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Holders including Holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Holders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.
				There are also provisions for written or electronically communicated Holder consents.
				The Issuer may also, subject to the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority, make any modification to the Notes which is not prejudicial to the interests of the Holders without the consent of the Holders. Any such modification shall be binding on the Holders.
Taxation:				All payments of principal, interest and other assimilated revenues by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes or Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of France or any political subdivision of, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.
				If French law should require such withholding or deduction, the Issuer will, save in certain limited circumstances provided in " <i>Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Taxation – Additional Amounts</i> ", pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net

amounts received by the holders of the Notes or Coupons after such

	withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal, interest and other assimilated revenues which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction.
Waiver of Set-off:	No holder of any Note may at any time exercise or claim any Set-Off Rights against any right, claim, or liability the Issuer has or may have or acquire against such holder, directly or indirectly, howsoever arising (and, for the avoidance of doubt, including all such rights, claims and liabilities arising under or in relation to any and all agreements or other instruments of any sort or any non-contractual obligations, in each case whether or not relating to such Note) and each such holder shall be deemed to have waived all Set-Off Rights to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law in relation to all such actual and potential rights, claims and liabilities.
	Set-Off Rights means any and all rights of or claims of any Noteholder for deduction, set-off, netting, compensation, retention or counterclaim arising directly or indirectly under or in connection with any such Note.
Form of the Notes:	The Notes will be issued in bearer form and will initially be in the form of the Temporary Bearer Global Note, without Coupons, which will be deposited on or around the Issue Date with a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream Banking, S.A. Interests in the Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable for interests in the Permanent Bearer Global Note, without Coupons, on or after the Exchange Date, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interests in the Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes only in certain limited circumstances in accordance with the terms of the Permanent Bearer Global Note. See "Overview of the Form of the Notes" below.
Denominations:	The Notes will be issued in the specified denominations of EUR 100,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof up to (and including) EUR 199,000.
Listing and Admission to Trading:	Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange with effect from the Issue Date.
Governing Law:	The Notes are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law, other than the provisions of Condition 4, paragraphs (a) and (b) which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, French law.
Enforcement of the Notes in Global Form:	In the case of Global Notes, individual investors' rights against the Issuer will, in certain circumstances, be governed by a Deed of Covenant dated March 26, 2021, a copy of which will be available for inspection at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent.

Ratings:

The Notes are expected to be rated BBB+ by S&P Global Ratings⁵, A3(hyb) by Moody's⁶ and BBB by Fitch⁷.

In addition, at the date of this Prospectus, the insurer financial strength ratings of the Issuer's principal insurance subsidiaries assigned by S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch are AA- with Stable outlook, Aa3 with Stable outlook and AA- with Positive outlook, respectively. The long term debt ratings of the Issuer assigned by S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch are A with Stable outlook, A2 with Stable outlook and A with Positive outlook, respectively.

S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch are established in the European Union and registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on credit ratings agencies as amended by Regulation (EU) No. 513/2011 (the **CRA Regulation**) and are included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website as of the date of this Prospectus⁸.

Selling Restrictions: There are restrictions on the transfer of the Notes prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period, see "*Selling Restrictions*" below.

⁵ Obligations rated "BBB" by S&P are obligations which exhibit adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to lead to a weakened capacity of the obligor to meet its financial commitment on the obligation.

⁶ Obligations rated "A" by Moody's are considered upper-medium-grade and are subject to low credit risk. Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category. Additionally, a "(hyb)" indicator is appended to all ratings of hybrid securities issued by banks, insurers, finance companies, and securities firms.

⁷ Obligations rated "BBB" by Fitch indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.

⁸ http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents which have previously been published are incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus:

- (i) the base prospectus dated March 26, 2021 (the **Base Prospectus**);
- (ii) the half-year financial report, including the unaudited interim consolidated condensed financial statements of the Issuer for the six months ended June 30, 2021 (being an English translation of the Issuer's 2021 Rapport Financier Semestriel, the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report);
- (iii) the unaudited interim consolidated condensed financial statements of the Issuer for the six months period ended June 30, 2021 included in the Issuer's 2021 Rapport Financier Semestriel (the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report);
- (iv) the Issuer's 2020 universal registration document (being the English translation of the Issuer's *Document d'enregistrement universel* filed with the French *Autorité des marchés financiers* (the *AMF*) on March 22, 2021 with filing number D.21-0162) (the **2020 Universal Registration Document**);
- (v) the Issuer's 2019 universal registration document (being the English translation of the Issuer's Document d'enregistrement universel filed with the French AMF on March 19, 2020 with filing number D.20-0142) (the 2019 Universal Registration Document); and
- (vi) the Issuer's audited Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 included respectively in the Issuer's 2020 Document d'enregistrement universel and 2019 Document d'enregistrement universel filed with the AMF (respectively the 2020 French Universal Registration Document and the 2019 French Universal Registration Document, and together the 2020 and 2019 French Universal Registration Documents).

Such documents shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in, and form part of, this Prospectus, save that any statement contained in a document which is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein modifies or supersedes such earlier statement (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise). Any statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this Prospectus.

This Prospectus and any copies of documents incorporated by reference herein are available on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (<u>www.bourse.lu</u>). The Base Prospectus, the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report and the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report, the 2020 and 2019 Universal Registration Documents and the 2020 and 2019 French Universal Registration Documents are available on the Issuer's website and those documents only and no other information or document of such site nor the website itself are incorporated by reference herein:

Base Prospectus

https://new-axa-prod.s3.amazonaws.com/www-axa-com/aa0d9333-eaad-4b54-9f7b-9bd0455b91b2 axa base prospectus 2021.pdf

2021 Half-Year Financial Report

https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com/f6c428c7-68ac-451f-8833-5ae63ccdaa27 axa half year 2021 financial report.pdf

2021 French Half-Year Financial Report

https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com/6bf6ca28-3f46-4d83-a665-3dabb5a22731 axa rapport financier semestriel 2021.pdf

2020 Universal Registration Document

https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com/b51e9c16-0fc2-45da-aa3d-894fe5ea7a0f AXA URD 2020 EN.pdf

2020 French Universal Registration Document

https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com/f1fd6ffe-d0eb-4973-9481a129f3239048 AXA URD 2020 VF.pdf

2019 Universal Registration Document

https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com%2F90abd6c7-80c4-48ef-84bf-1d038670d9b7 axa-urd2019-en.pdf

2019 French Universal Registration Document

https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com%2F8175a56e-c76b-40f3-8edf-1defd029156f axa urd 2019 vf.pdf

Any information not listed in the cross-reference list below but included in the documents incorporated by reference is not incorporated by reference.

Non-incorporated parts of the Base Prospectus, the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report and the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report, the 2020 and 2019 Universal Registration Documents and the 2020 and 2019 French Universal Registration Documents shall not form part of this Prospectus and are either not relevant for the investors or covered elsewhere in this Prospectus.

I. 2020 and 2019 Universal Registration Documents, 2020 and 2019 French Universal Registration Documents, 2021 Half-Year Financial Report

	RISK FACTORS	Document Incorporated By Reference	Page(s)	
(A.7.3.1)	A description of the material risks that are specific to the issuer and that may affect the issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the securities, in a limited number of categories, in a section headed 'Risk Factors'.	2020 Universal Registration Document	212 to 232 (with the exclusion of the section entitled "Risk related to the ownership of the Company's shares")	
	in the assessment of the issuer, offeror or person asking for admission to trading on a regulated market, taking into account the negative impact on the issuer and the probability of their occurrence, shall be set out first. The risk factors shall be corroborated by the content of the registration document.			
	INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER			
(A.7.4.1)	History and development of the Issuer			
(A.7.4.1.1)	The legal and commercial name of the issuer.	2020 Universal Registration Document	433	
(A7.4.1.2)	The place of registration of the issuer, its registration number and legal entity identifier ("LEI").		433	
(A.7.4.1.3)	The date of incorporation and the length of life of the issuer, except where the period is indefinite.	2020 Universal Registration Document	433	
(A.7.4.1.4)	The domicile and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the issuer operates, its country of incorporation, the address, telephone number of its registered office (or principal place of business if different from its registered office) and website of the issuer, if any, with a disclaimer that the information on the website does not form part of the prospectus unless that information is incorporated by reference into the prospectus.	2020 Universal Registration Document	433	

		Document Incorporated By Reference	Page(s)	
	BUSINESS OVERVIEW			
(A.7.5.1)	Principal activities			
(A.7.5.1.1)	A brief description of the Issuer's principal activities stating the main categories of products sold and/or services performed.	2020 Universal Registration Document	21 to 29	
(A.7.5.1.2)	The basis for any statements made by the Issuer regarding its competitive position.	2020 Universal Registration Document	40 to 43	
	ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE			
(A.7.6.1)	If the Issuer is part of a group, a brief description of the group and the Issuer's position within the group. This may be in the form of, or accompanied by, a diagram of the organisational structure if this helps to clarify the structure.		14, 299 to 301	
	TREND INFORMATION			
(A.7.7.1)	A description of:			
	 (a) any material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the date of its last published audited financial statements; and 	2020 Universal Registration Document	91 to 92 and 418	
	(b) any significant change in the financial performance of the group since the end of the last financial period for which financial information has been published to the date of the registration document.	2021 Half-Year Financial Report	12 and 107	
	If neither of the above are applicable then the Issuer should include (an) appropriate negative statement(s).			
	ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT, AND	SUPERVISORY BOD	IES	
(A.7.9.1)	Names, business addresses and functions within the issuer of the following persons and an indication of the principal activities performed by them outside of	2020 Universal Registration Document	100 to 111 and 121 to 122	
	that Issuer where these are significant with respect to that Issuer:	2021 Half-Year Financial Report	5 to 8	

(a) members of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies;

Document **Incorporated By** Reference

(b) partners with unlimited liability, in the case of a limited partnership with a share capital.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

(A.7.10.1) To the extent known to the Issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or indirectly Registration owned or controlled and by whom and describe the nature of such control and describe the measures in place to ensure that such control is not abused.

2020 Universal Document

427 to 429

Page(s)

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER'S ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES

(A.7.11.1) **Historical financial information**

(A.7.11.1.1)	the latest two financial years (at least 24 months) or such shorter period as the issuer has been in operation and the audit report in respect of each year.	2020 Universal Registration Document	14 to 16 and 267 to 424
		2020 French Universal Registration Document	14 to 16 and 267 to 424
		2019 Universal Registration Document	14 to 16 and 209 to 371
		2019 French Universal Registration Document	14 to 16 and 209 to 371
	(a) balance sheet	2020 Universal Registration Document	268 to 269
		2020 French Universal Registration Document	268 to 269
		2019 Universal Registration Document	210 to 211
		2019 French Universal Registration Document	210 to 211
		Document Incorporated By Reference	Page(s)
--------------	--	--	------------
	(b) income statement	2020 Universal Registration Document	270
		2020 French Universal Registration Document	270
		2019 Universal Registration Document	212
		2019 French Universal Registration Document	212
	(c) accounting policies and explanatory notes	2020 Universal Registration Document	278 to 418
		2020 French Universal Registration Document	278 to 418
		2019 Universal Registration Document	220 to 365
		2019 French Universal Registration Document	220 to 365
(A.7.11.1.5)	Consolidated financial statements	2020 Universal Registration	268 to 418
	If the issuer prepares both stand-alone and consolidated financial statements, include at least the consolidated financial statements in the registration document.	Document 2020 French Universal Registration Document	268 to 418
		2019 Universal Registration Document	210 to 365
		2019 French Universal Registration Document	210 to 365

		Document Incorporated By Reference	Page(s)
(A.7.11.1.6)	Age of financial information The balance sheet date of the last year of audited financial information may not be older than 18 months from the date of the registration document	2020 Universal Registration Document	268 to 418
		2020 French Universal Registration	268 to 418
		Document 2019 Universal Registration	210 to 365
		Document 2019 French Universal Registration Document	210 to 365
(A.7.11.2)	Auditing of Historical financial information		
be inde shall b Directiv	The historical financial information must be independently audited. The audit report shall be prepared in accordance with Directive 2006/43/EC and Regulation (EU) No 537/2014.	2020 Universal Registration Document	419 to 424
		2020 French Universal Registration Document	419 to 424
		2019 Universal Registration Document	366 to 371
		2019 French Universal Registration Document	366 to 371
(A.7.11.3)	Legal and arbitration proceedings		
(A.7.11.3.1)	Information on any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the issuer is aware), during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past significant effects on the issuer and/or group's financial position or profitability, or provide an appropriate negative statement.	2020 Universal Registration Document	416 to 418

		Document Incorporated By Reference	Page(s)
(A.7.11.4)	Significant change in the issuer's financial position		
(A.7.11.4.1)	A description of any significant change in the financial position of the group which has occurred since the end of the last financial period for which either audited financial information or interim financial information have been published, or provide an appropriate negative statement.		12 and 107

II. 2021 Half-Year Financial Report and 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report

Information incorporated by reference	Reference	
I. Activity Report	Pages 3 to 67 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
II. Consolidated Financial Statements		
Consolidated statement of financial position	Pages 70 and 71 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
	Pages 74 and 75 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report	
Consolidated statement of income	Page 72 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
	Page 76 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report	
Consolidated statement of	Page 73 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
comprehensive income	Page 77 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report	
Consolidated statement of changes in equity	Pages 74 and 75 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
	Pages 78 and 79 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report	
Consolidated statement of cash flows	Pages 76 and 77 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
	Pages 80 and 81 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report	
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	Pages 78 to 107 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	
	Pages 82 and 111 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report	

Information incorporated by reference	Reference
on the 2021 Half-Year Financial	Pages 108 to 111 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report
Information	Pages 112 and 115 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report
IV. Statement of the Person	Page 113 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report
Responsible for the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report	Page 117 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report

The sections "Alternative Performance Measures" and Appendix V "Glossary" appearing respectively on pages 49 to 50 and 479 to 483 of the 2020 Universal Registration Document and the 2020 French Universal Registration Document, on pages 21 to 22 and 60 to 67 of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report and on pages 22 to 23 and 63 to 71 of the 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.

III. Base Prospectus

Section	Page
Form of the Notes	40 to 43
Taxation	140 to 143

OVERVIEW OF THE FORM OF THE NOTES

The Notes will be in bearer form, with interest coupons (**Coupons**) attached. The Notes will be issued outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S.

Bearer Notes

The Notes will be initially issued in the form of a temporary bearer global note (a **Temporary Bearer Global Note**) exchangeable for a permanent bearer global note (a **Permanent Bearer Global Note** and together with the Temporary Bearer Global Note, the **Bearer Global Notes**), which, in either case, will be delivered on or prior to the issue date to a common depositary (the **Common Depositary**) for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (**Euroclear**) and Clearstream Banking, S.A. (**Clearstream**).

Whilst any Note is represented by a Temporary Bearer Global Note, payments of principal, interest (if any) and any other amount payable in respect of the Notes due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made (against presentation of the Temporary Bearer Global Note) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Principal Paying Agent.

On and after the date (the **Exchange Date**) which, is expected to be 40 days after the Temporary Bearer Global Note is issued, interests in such Temporary Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described therein either for (i) interests in a Permanent Bearer Global Note or (ii) upon the limited circumstances set out in the Temporary Bearer Global Note, for definitive bearer notes (**Definitive Bearer Notes**) with interest coupons and talons attached (subject, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, to 120 days' notice), in each case outside the U.S. and against certification of beneficial ownership as described above unless such certification has already been given, provided that purchasers in the United States and certain U.S. persons will not be able to receive Definitive Bearer Notes. The holder of a Temporary Bearer Global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest, principal or other amount due on or after the Exchange Date unless, upon due certification, exchange of the Temporary Bearer Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Bearer Global Note or for Definitive Bearer Notes is improperly withheld or refused.

Payments of principal, interest (if any) or any other amounts on a Permanent Bearer Global Note will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream (against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of the Permanent Bearer Global Note) without any requirement for certification.

A Permanent Bearer Global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for Definitive Bearer Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached upon either (i) not less than 60 days' written notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Bearer Global Note) to the Principal Paying Agent as described therein or (ii) only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. For these purposes, Exchange Event means that (i) the Issuer has been notified that both Euroclear and Clearstream have been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or have announced an intention permanently to cease business or have in fact done so and no successor clearing system is available or (ii) the Issuer has or will become subject to adverse tax consequences which would not be suffered were the Notes represented by the Permanent Bearer Global Note in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Euroclear and/or Clearstream (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such Permanent Bearer Global Note) may give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (ii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Principal Paying Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur no later than 45 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Principal Paying Agent.

The following legend will appear on all permanent and definitive Bearer Notes which have an original maturity of more than 365 days and on all interest coupons relating to such Notes:

"ANY UNITED STATES PERSON WHO HOLDS THIS OBLIGATION WILL BE SUBJECT TO LIMITATIONS UNDER THE UNITED STATES INCOME TAX LAWS, INCLUDING THE LIMITATIONS PROVIDED IN SECTIONS 165(j) AND 1287(a) OF THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED."

The U.S. Internal Revenue Code sections referred to above provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment of any gain recognised on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of such Notes or interest coupons.

Notes which are represented by a Global Note will only be transferable in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be.

General

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined under "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*"), the Principal Paying Agent shall arrange that, where further Notes are issued and are intended to form a single series with the existing Notes, such further Notes may be assigned a Common Code and ISIN which are different from the Common Code and ISIN assigned to the existing Notes until at least the expiry of the distribution compliance period applicable to such further Notes.

For so long as the Notes are represented by a Global Note, each person (other than Euroclear or Clearstream) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or of Clearstream as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Euroclear or Clearstream as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer and its agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant Global Note shall be treated by the Issuer and its agents as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the Global Note and the expressions **Noteholder** and **holder of Notes** and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

1. INTRODUCTION

- **1.1 Notes:** The EUR 1,250,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Ordinary Subordinated Notes due 2042 (the **Notes**, which expression shall in these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, include any further notes issued pursuant to Condition 16 and forming a single series with the Notes) are issued by AXA (the **Issuer**) as Tranche 1 of Series 44 under its EUR 18,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme.
- 1.2 Agency Agreement: The Notes have the benefit of an amended and restated agency agreement dated March 26, 2021, as supplemented by a supplemental agency agreement dated January 10, 2022 (together, the Agency Agreement as the same may be amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time) between the Issuer, BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch, as issuing and principal paying agent and agent bank (the Principal Paying Agent, which expression shall include any successor principal paying agent) and the other paying agents named therein (together with the Principal Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents).
- **1.3 Deed of Covenant:** The Noteholders are entitled to the benefit of the Deed of Covenant (the **Deed of Covenant**) dated March 26, 2021 and made by the Issuer.

2. INTERPRETATION

2.1 Definitions

In these Conditions, the following expressions have the following meaning:

Accounting Event means that an opinion of a recognised accountancy firm of international standing has been delivered to the Issuer and the Principal Paying Agent stating that as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the Applicable Accounting Standards the Notes must not, or must no longer be, recorded as "liabilities" in the consolidated financial statements of the Issuer and this cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking such reasonable measures it (acting in good faith) deems appropriate.

Actual/360 means the actual number of days in the Floating Interest Period divided by 360.

Actual/Actual (ICMA) means:

- (i) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Fixed Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Issue Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the Accrual Period) is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the number of days in such Determination Period; or
- (ii) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (a) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the number of days in such Determination Period; and
 - (b) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Fixed Interest Period divided by the number of days in such Fixed Interest Period.

Applicable Accounting Standards means the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as applicable at the relevant dates and for the relevant periods, or other accounting principles generally accepted in France (or if the Issuer becomes domiciled in a jurisdiction other

than France, such other jurisdiction) and applied by the Issuer which subsequently supersede them.

Applicable Supervisory Regulations means the Solvency II Directive as implemented in France, the Solvency II Regulation and any other capital requirements or regulatory capital rules (including the guidelines and recommendations of the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (or any successor authority), the official application or interpretation of the Relevant Supervisory Authority and any applicable decision of any court or tribunal) from time to time in effect in France (or if the Issuer becomes domiciled in a jurisdiction other than France, such other jurisdiction) and applicable to the Issuer and/or the Group (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups), which would lay down the requirements to be fulfilled by financial instruments for inclusion at least in "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept), for single solvency and group solvency purposes of the Issuer.

Arrears of Interest has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 5(d).

Business Day means a day which is both (x) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in Luxembourg and Paris and (y) a TARGET Business Day.

Calculation Amount means EUR 1,000.

Code has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 6(a).

Compulsory Interest Payment Date means each Interest Payment Date prior to which, during a period of six months prior to such Interest Payment Date, a dividend in any form on any ordinary or preference shares of the Issuer has been declared or paid, unless such Interest Payment Date constitutes a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date.

Conditions to Redemption and Purchase has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 7(j).

Conditions to Settlement has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 5(d)(iii).

Deferral Date means either a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date or an Optional Interest Payment Date.

Definitive Bearer Notes means definitive bearer Notes in a Specified Denomination.

Determination Dates means July 10 in each year.

Determination Period means each period from (and including) a Determination Date to but excluding the next Determination Date (including, where either the Issue Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date).

Euro, **EUR** or € means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty.

Euro-zone means the region comprised of Member States of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty.

FATCA has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 6(a).

Final Maturity Date means:

- (i) if on the Scheduled Maturity Date the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled, the Scheduled Maturity Date;
- (ii) otherwise, the first Interest Payment Date following the Scheduled Maturity Date on which the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase are fulfilled.

First Call Date means January 10, 2032.

First Fixed Interest Period has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 5(a)(i).

First Reset Date means July 10, 2032.

Fixed Day Count Fraction means Actual/Actual (ICMA).

Fixed Interest Payment Date means July 10 in each year, commencing on July 10, 2022, to and including the First Reset Date.

Fixed Interest Period means the period from and including a Fixed Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Issue Date) to but excluding the next (or first) Fixed Interest Payment Date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the First Fixed Interest Period.

Fixed Rate of Interest means 1.875 per cent. per annum.

Floating Day Count Fraction means Actual/360.

Floating Interest Amount means the amount of interest payable on the Notes in respect of each Floating Interest Period as described in Condition 5(b)(iv).

Floating Interest Determination Date means the second TARGET Business Day prior to the commencement of each Floating Interest Period.

Floating Interest Payment Date means October 10, January 10, April 10 and July 10 in each year, commencing on October 10, 2032 to and including the Final Maturity Date, in each case subject to adjustment in accordance with the Modified Following Business Day Convention.

Floating Interest Period means the period from and including a Floating Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the First Reset Date) to but excluding the next (or first) Floating Interest Payment Date.

Floating Rate of Interest has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 5(b)(iii).

Global Coordinators means Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG and Natixis.

Global Note(s) means either the Temporary Bearer Global Note and/or the Permanent Bearer Global Note (as applicable).

Group means the Issuer together with its direct and indirect subsidiaries.

Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up means:

(i) the winding-up of any Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking within the Group; or

(ii) the appointment of an administrator of any Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking within the Group,

in each case, where the Issuer has determined, acting reasonably and in consultation with the Relevant Supervisory Authority, that the assets of that Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking within the Group may or will not be sufficient to meet all claims of the policyholders

pursuant to a contract of insurance of that Insurance Undertaking or Reinsurance Undertaking which is subject to a winding-up or administration process (and for these purposes, the claims of policyholders pursuant to a contract of insurance shall include all amounts to which policyholders are entitled under applicable legislation or rules relating to the winding-up of Insurance Undertakings or Reinsurance Undertakings that reflect any right to receive or expectation of receiving benefits which policyholders may have).

Insurance Undertaking has the meaning ascribed to it in the Solvency II Directive.

Interest Payment Date means a Fixed Interest Payment Date or a Floating Interest Payment Date, as the case may be.

Interest Period means a Fixed Interest Period or a Floating Interest Period, as the case may be.

Issue Date means January 10, 2022.

Mandatory Interest Deferral Date means each Interest Payment Date in respect of which the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent have been notified by the Issuer pursuant to Condition 5(d)(iv) that (i) a Regulatory Deficiency has occurred and such Regulatory Deficiency is continuing on such Interest Payment Date or (ii) the payment of such interest would of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency.

Margin means 2.60 per cent. per annum.

Modified Following Business Day Convention means the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Floating Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

Optional Interest Payment Date means any Interest Payment Date other than a Compulsory Interest Payment Date or a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date.

Permanent Bearer Global Note means the permanent bearer global note issued upon exchange of the Temporary Bearer Global Note in respect of the Notes.

Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority means the prior written approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority, if such approval is required at the time under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations, and provided that such approval has not been withdrawn by the date set for redemption, purchase, exchange, variation or payment, as the case may be.

Qualifying Securities means securities that:

- (i) maintain at least the same ranking in liquidation, same interest rate and interest payment dates;
- (ii) as far as the redemption of the Notes is concerned, preserve the obligations of the Issuer, including (without limitation) as to timing of, and amounts payable upon, such redemption, provided that such Qualifying Securities may not be redeemed by the Issuer prior to the First Call Date (save for redemption, exchange or variation on terms analogous with the terms of Conditions 7(b), 7(d), 7(e) and 7(f)); and
- (iii) maintain the same rights to accrued interest and/or Arrears of Interest (and Arrears of Interest accrued on the Notes originally issued, if any, which will be transferred respectively to such Qualifying Securities), maintain the same rights to principal and interest without any additional principal loss absorption via a write-down or conversion into ordinary shares of the principal amount, as the Notes.

Rate of Interest means the Fixed Rate of Interest or the Floating Rate of Interest, as the case may be.

Rating Agency means S&P Global Ratings, acting through S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited (**S&P Global Ratings**) or Moody's France SAS (**Moody's**) or Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited (**Fitch**), or in each case, any successor thereto.

Rating Methodology Event will be deemed to occur upon a change in the methodology of a Rating Agency (as defined above) (or in the interpretation of such methodology) as a result of which the equity content previously assigned by such Rating Agency to the Notes is, in the reasonable opinion of the Issuer, materially reduced when compared to the equity content assigned by such Rating Agency on or about the Issue Date or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes.

Redemption Alignment Event will be deemed to have occurred if at any time prior to January 10, 2032 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling ten years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, the Issuer determines, in consultation with the Relevant Supervisory Authority, that the option to redeem the Notes following a Withholding Tax Event pursuant to Condition 7(b)(i), without such redeemed Notes being required to be replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality, would not cause the Notes to no longer fulfil the requirements in order to be treated under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulatory capital (including for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups) and the Issuer gives not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice of such determination to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

Redemption Amount means EUR 1,000 per Calculation Amount, together with interest accrued up to but excluding the date of redemption, including Arrears of Interest, if any.

Reference Banks means the principal Euro-zone office of four major banks in the Euro-zone interbank market, in each case selected by the Global Coordinators (after prior consultation with the Issuer).

Reference Rate means 3-month EURIBOR.

Regulatory Deficiency means that:

- (i) the own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group is not sufficient to cover its capital requirements (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the applicable solvency capital requirement (SCR or **Solvency Capital Requirement**), the applicable minimum capital requirement (MCR) or any applicable capital requirements for internationally active insurance groups) (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such requirement by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) whichever occurs earlier; or
- the Relevant Supervisory Authority has notified the Issuer that it has determined, in view of the financial condition of the Issuer, that in accordance with the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations at such time, the Issuer must take specified action in relation to payments under the Notes,

in each case without taking into account any Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority being granted on an exceptional basis with respect to the payment of interest and/or Arrears of Interest on, or the redemption or purchase of, the Notes.

Regulatory Event will occur if, on or after the Issue Date, the Relevant Supervisory Authority has notified the Issuer:

- that under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations, the Notes (in whole or in part) would not be treated at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups); or
- (ii) that under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations, the Notes (in whole or in part) no longer fulfil the requirements in order to be treated at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital (including for the purpose of any capital requirements of internationally active insurance groups), provided that on the Issue Date or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, the Notes did fulfil the requirements for inclusion at least in the determination of the "tier two" own funds regulatory capital of the Issuer and/or the Group,

except where in the case of each of (i) and (ii), this is merely the result of exceeding any applicable limits on the inclusion of such securities in at least the "tier two" own funds regulatory capital of the Issuer and/or the Group pursuant to the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations.

Reinsurance Undertaking has the meaning ascribed to it in the Solvency II Directive.

Relevant Screen Page means Reuters EURIBOR01 or such other screen page of Reuters or such other information service which is the successor to Reuters EURIBOR01.

Relevant Supervisory Authority means any relevant regulator having jurisdiction over the Issuer and/or the Group, in the event that the Issuer and/or the Group is required to comply with certain applicable capital requirements. The current Relevant Supervisory Authority is the *Autorité de Contrôle Prudentiel et de Résolution* (the **ACPR**).

Scheduled Maturity Date means the Interest Payment Date falling on or nearest to July 10, 2042.

Senior Notes means notes which are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* among themselves and (save for certain obligations required to be preferred by law) equally with all other present and future unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

Solvency II Directive means Directive 2009/138/EC of November 25, 2009 on the taking-up and pursuit of the business of Insurance and Reinsurance (Solvency II), as amended from time to time, the further legislative acts of the European Union enacted in relation thereto and the French legislation implementing the same.

Solvency II Regulation means Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/35 of October 10, 2014, as amended from time to time.

TARGET2 System means the Trans European Automated Real-Time Gross settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System.

TARGET Business Day means a day on which the Trans European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System (the TARGET2 System) is open.

Temporary Bearer Global Note means the temporary bearer global note initially issued in respect of the Notes.

Treaty means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

Undated Subordinated Notes means notes with no specified maturity date which are direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and *pari passu* with any other existing or future direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer with no specified maturity date (any such obligations, **Undated Subordinated Obligations**).

2.2 Interpretation

- (i) Notes and Holders shall respectively be deemed to include references to Coupons and Couponholders, if relevant;
- (ii) references to Coupons shall be deemed to include references to Talons;
- (iii) any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any additional amounts in respect of principal which may be payable under Condition 8 and any other amount in the nature of principal payable pursuant to these Conditions;
- (iv) any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts in respect of interest which may be payable under Condition 8 and any other amount in the nature of interest payable pursuant to these Conditions;
- (v) references to Notes being "outstanding" shall be construed in accordance with the definition attributable thereto in the Agency Agreement; and
- (vi) any reference to a numbered "Condition" shall be to the relevant Condition in these Conditions and references to "Conditions" shall be to these Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

3. FORM, DENOMINATION AND TITLE

The Notes are issued in bearer form by the Issuer on the Issue Date in Euro in the aggregate principal amount of EUR 1,250,000,000 divided into Notes in the specified denominations (the **Specified Denominations** and each a **Specified Denomination**) of EUR 100,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof up to (and including) EUR 199,000.

Definitive Bearer Notes have interest coupons (**Coupons**) and talons for further Coupons (**Talons**) attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons.

Title to Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery. The Issuer and any Paying Agent will (except as otherwise required by law) deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and the expressions **Noteholder**, **Holder**, **holder of Notes** and **Couponholders** and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

4. STATUS OF THE NOTES AND SUBORDINATION

Condition 4(a) below will apply for so long as any Existing Subordinated Note (as defined in paragraph (c) below) is outstanding. From (and including) the first day upon which no Existing Subordinated Note remains outstanding (the **Existing Subordinated Notes Redemption Date**), Condition 4(b) will automatically replace and supersede Condition 4(a) without the need for any action from the Issuer nor any consent from any Noteholder.

(a) Prior to the Existing Subordinated Notes Redemption Date

The Notes and any relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and *pari*

passu with any other existing or future direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer with a specified maturity date (including, without limitation, those which are expressed to be senior subordinated obligations of the Issuer with a specified maturity date) and shall be subordinated to all direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (including any Senior Notes), but shall rank in priority to any Undated Subordinated Notes, any Undated Subordinated Obligations, any *prêts participatifs* granted to the Issuer, any *titres participatifs* issued by the Issuer and any Deeply Subordinated Notes issued by the Issuer.

The Notes shall also rank in priority to any class of share capital, whether represented by ordinary shares or preference shares (*actions de préférence*) issued by the Issuer.

(b) From (and including) the Existing Subordinated Notes Redemption Date

The Notes constitute **Ordinary Subordinated Notes**. The Notes and any relative Coupons are direct, unconditional, unsecured and ordinary subordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and *pari passu* with any other Ordinary Subordinated Obligations (as defined in sub-paragraph (c) below), and shall be subordinated to:

- all direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer (including any Senior Notes); and
- all direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank senior to the Ordinary Subordinated Obligations (including, without limitation, any Senior Subordinated Notes),

in each case outstanding from time to time, but shall rank in priority to any subordinated obligations of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank junior to the Ordinary Subordinated Obligations, any *prêts participatifs* granted to the Issuer, any *titres participatifs* issued by the Issuer and any Deeply Subordinated Notes issued by the Issuer.

The Notes shall also rank in priority to any class of share capital, whether represented by ordinary shares or preference shares (*actions de préférence*), issued by the Issuer.

(c) Definitions

Deeply Subordinated Notes means any direct, unconditional, unsecured and deeply subordinated notes which rank or are expressed to rank junior to any *prêts participatifs* granted to the Issuer and any *titres participatifs* issued by the Issuer, but which rank in priority to any class of share capital, whether represented by ordinary shares or preference shares (*actions de préférence*), issued by the Issuer.

Existing Subordinated Notes means any note of any of the issues listed below, provided that should the terms and conditions of the notes of any such issues be amended in any way which would result in the Issuer being able to issue subordinated notes ranking senior to such issues, then such issues would, from (and including) the effective date of such amendment, be deemed to no longer constitute an Existing Subordinated Note:

- JPY 27,000,000,000 Subordinated Perpetual Step-Up Notes
- USD 1,250,000,000 8.60% Subordinated Notes due December 15, 2030 (ISIN: US054536AA57)
- EMTN Series 11, EUR 10,000,000 Index Linked Interest Notes due May 2023 (ISIN: XS0167530681)
- EMTN Series 13, EUR 200,000,000 Undated Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes (ISIN: XS0179060974)

- EMTN Series 14, EUR 300,000,000 Undated Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes (ISIN: XS0181369454)
- EMTN Series 15, USD 150,000,000 Undated Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes, (ISIN: XS0184718764)
- EMTN Series 16, USD 225,000,000 Undated Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes (ISIN: XS0185672291)
- EMTN Series 17, EUR 125,000,000 Undated Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes (ISIN: XS0188935174)
- EMTN Series 32, USD 850,000,000 5.50 per cent. Undated Subordinated Notes (ISIN: XS0876682666)
- EMTN Series 33, EUR 1,000,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due 2043 (ISIN: XS0878743623)
- EMTN Series 34, GBP 750,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due 2054 (ISIN: XS1004674450)
- EMTN Series 35, EUR 1,000,000 Undated Subordinated Resettable Notes (ISIN: XS1069439740)
- EMTN Series 38, EUR 1,500,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due 2047 (ISIN: XS1346228577)
- EMTN Series 40, USD 850,000,000 4.50 per cent. Undated Subordinated Notes (ISIN: XS1489814340)
- EMTN Series 41, USD 1,000,000,000 Fixed to Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due 2047 (ISIN: XS1550938978)

Ordinary Subordinated Obligations means any existing or future direct, unconditional, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Ordinary Subordinated Notes;

Senior Subordinated Notes means notes which are direct, unconditional, unsecured and senior subordinated obligations of the Issuer;

Senior Subordinated Obligations means any existing or future direct, unconditional, unsecured and senior subordinated obligations of the Issuer that rank or are expressed to rank *pari passu* with the Senior Subordinated Notes.

(d) Waiver of Set-Off

No holder of any Note may at any time exercise or claim any Set-Off Rights against any right, claim, or liability the Issuer has or may have or acquire against such holder, directly or indirectly, howsoever arising (and, for the avoidance of doubt, including all such rights, claims and liabilities arising under or in relation to any and all agreements or other instruments of any sort or any non-contractual obligations, in each case whether or not relating to such Note) and each such holder shall be deemed to have waived all Set-Off Rights to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law in relation to all such actual and potential rights, claims and liabilities.

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Condition 4(d) is intended to provide, or shall be construed as acknowledging, any right of deduction, set-off, netting, compensation, retention or counterclaim or that any such right is or would be available to any holder of any Note but for this Condition 4(d).

For the purposes of this Condition 4(d), **Set-Off Rights** means any and all rights of or claims of any Noteholder for deduction, set-off, netting, compensation, retention or counterclaim arising directly or indirectly under or in connection with any such Note.

5. INTEREST

(a) Fixed Rate Interest Period

- (i) Each Note bears interest from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the First Reset Date at a rate equal to the Fixed Rate of Interest payable annually in arrear on the Fixed Interest Payment Date in each year up to (and including) the First Reset Date. There will be a short first Fixed Interest Period, from and including, the Issue Date to, but excluding, July 10, 2022 (the **First Fixed Interest Period**).
- (ii) The amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for any Fixed Interest Period (other than the First Fixed Interest Period) shall be calculated by applying the Fixed Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Euro cent, with half of a Euro cent being rounded upwards.

(x) With respect to the First Fixed Interest Period and (y) if interest is required to be calculated for a period other than a Fixed Interest Period, such interest shall be calculated by applying the Fixed Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount, multiplying such sum by the Fixed Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Euro cent, with half of a Euro cent being rounded upwards.

(b) Floating Rate Interest Period

- (i) Each Note bears interest from (and including) the First Reset Date to (but excluding) the Final Maturity Date at a rate equal to the Floating Rate of Interest payable quarterly in arrear on each Floating Interest Payment Date up to (and including) the Final Maturity Date.
- (ii) If a Floating Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a date which is not a Business Day, it will be adjusted in accordance with the Modified Following Business Day Convention.
- (iii) The rate of interest on each Floating Interest Payment Date will, subject as provided below, be either:
 - (A) the offered quotation; or
 - (B) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate *per annum*) for the Reference Rate which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page as at 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Floating Interest Determination Date in question plus the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent (the **Floating Rate of Interest**). If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Calculation Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

If the Relevant Screen Page is not available or if, in the case of (x) above, no such offered quotation appears or, in the case of (y) above, fewer than three offered quotations appear, the Calculation Agent shall request the principal office in the Eurozone of each of the Reference Banks to provide the Calculation Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate *per annum*) for the Reference Rate at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the Floating Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with offered quotations, the Floating Rate of Interest for the Floating Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations plus the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent.

If on any Floating Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Calculation Agent with an offered quotation as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Floating Rate of Interest for the relevant Floating Interest Period shall be the rate *per annum* which the Calculation Agent determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicated to (and at the request of) the Calculation Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the relevant Floating Interest Determination Date, deposits in Euro for a period of 3 months by leading banks in the Euro-zone inter-bank market plus the Margin or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in Euro for a period of 3 months, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered rates for deposits in Euro for a period of 3 months, at which, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (Brussels time) on the relevant Floating Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Issuer suitable for the purpose) informs the Calculation Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the Euro-zone interbank market, as appropriate, plus the Margin, provided that, if the Floating Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Floating Rate of Interest shall be determined as at the last preceding Floating Interest Determination Date.

(iv) Determination of Floating Rate of Interest and calculation of Floating Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Floating Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Floating Rate of Interest for the relevant Floating Interest Period.

The Calculation Agent will calculate the amount of interest payable per Calculation Amount for the relevant Floating Interest Period (the **Floating Interest Amount**) by applying the Floating Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount and multiplying such sum by the Floating Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest Euro cent, with half of a Euro cent being rounded upwards.

(v) Notification of Floating Rate of Interest and Floating Interest Amounts

The Principal Paying Agent will cause the Floating Rate of Interest and each Floating Interest Amount for each Floating Interest Period and the relevant Floating Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed (by no later than the first day of each Floating Interest Period) and notice thereof to be given in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter. Each Floating Interest Amount and Floating Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Floating Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to the Issuer and to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and any other stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14. For the purposes of this paragraph, the expression Business Day means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in Luxembourg.

(vi) Certificates to be final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 5(b), by the Principal Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of wilful default, bad faith, manifest error or proven error) be binding on the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent, Calculation Agent, the other Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default or bad faith) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders, or the Couponholders shall attach to the Principal Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

(vii) Benchmark discontinuation in relation to Floating Rate of Interest

If a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to the Reference Rate, when any Floating Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Reference Rate, then the following provisions shall apply.

(x) Independent Adviser

The Issuer shall use reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult with an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, with a view to the Independent Adviser determining a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 5(b)(vii)(y)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if any, (in accordance with Condition 5(b)(vii)(z)) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 5(b)(vii)(aa)).

In making such determination, the Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 5(b)(vii) shall act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner as an independent adviser with appropriate expertise and in consultation with the Issuer. In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent, the Noteholders or the Couponholders for any determination made by it, pursuant to this Condition 5(b)(vii).

If (i) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser; or (ii) the Independent Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (as applicable) in accordance with this Condition 5(b)(vii)(x) prior to the relevant Floating Interest Determination Date; or (iii) the Issuer determines that the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (as applicable) and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, or any Benchmark Amendments, all as determined by the Independent Adviser, would result in a Regulatory Event, then :

- the Floating Rate of Interest applicable to the next succeeding Floating Interest Period shall be equal to the Floating Rate of Interest last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of the immediately preceding Floating Interest Period;
- if there has not been a first Floating Interest Payment Date, the Floating Rate of Interest for the first Floating Interest Period shall be equal to the last available Reference Rate plus the Margin.

For the avoidance of doubt, this Condition 5(b)(vii)(x) shall apply to the relevant next succeeding Floating Interest Period only and any subsequent Floating Interest Periods are subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 5(b)(vii)(x).

(y) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Independent Adviser determines that:

- there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, shall subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the relevant Floating Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 5(b)(vii)); or
- (ii) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate and the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, shall subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the relevant Floating Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 5(b)(vii)).
- (z) Adjustment Spread

The Adjustment Spread (or the formula or methodology for determining the Adjustment Spread), if any, shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each determination of a relevant Floating Rate of Interest (or a relevant component part thereof) which is by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable). If the Independent Adviser is unable to determine the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) will apply without an Adjustment Spread.

(aa) Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, is determined in accordance with this Condition 5(b)(vii) and the Independent Adviser, determines (i) that amendments to these Conditions (including, without limitation, amendments to the definitions of Floating Day Count Fraction, Business Days or Relevant Screen Page) are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, (such amendments, the **Benchmark Amendments**) and (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 5(b)(vii)(bb), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders, vary these Conditions to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

For the avoidance of doubt, and in connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 5(b)(vii)(aa), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

(bb) Notices, etc.

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 5(b)(vii) will be notified by the Issuer, promptly after receiving such information from the Independent Adviser, to the Calculation Agent, the Principal Paying Agent and in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, and the Benchmark Amendments, if any, specified in such notice will (in the absence of manifest error in the determination of the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread, if any, and the Benchmark Amendments, if any) be final and binding on the Issuer, the Calculation Agent, the Principal Paying Agent and the Noteholders.

(cc) Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under this Condition 5(b)(vii), the Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 5(b)(iii) will continue to apply unless and until the party responsible for determining the Floating Rate of Interest (being the Calculation Agent) has been notified of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), and of any Adjustment Spread and/or Benchmark Amendments.

(dd) Definitions

For the purposes of this Condition 5(b)(vii):

Adjustment Spread means either (a) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero), or (b) a formula or methodology for calculating a spread in each case which is to be applied to the the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate, as the case may be, and is the spread, formula or methodology which:

- (i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or (if no such recommendation or provision has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate);
- (ii) the Independent Adviser determines is customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industryaccepted replacement rate for the Reference Rate; or (if Independent Adviser determines that no such spread is customarily applied);
- (iii) the Independent Adviser determines and which is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate, as the case may be.

Alternative Rate means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser determines. in accordance with Condition 5(b)(vii). is customarily applied, as determined by the Independent Adviser, in international debt capital markets transactions for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for a commensurate interest period in euro;

Benchmark Amendments has the meaning given to it in Condition 5(b)(vii)(aa);

Benchmark Event means, with respect to a Reference Rate:

- (i) the Reference Rate ceasing to be published for a period of at least 5 consecutive Business Days or ceasing to exist; or
- a public statement by the administrator of the Reference Rate that it has ceased or that it will cease publishing the Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Reference Rate); or
- (iii) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Reference Rate, that the Reference Rate has been or will be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or

- (iv) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Reference Rate as a consequence of which the Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used either generally, or in respect of the Notes; or
- (v) it has become unlawful for any Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent or the Issuer to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the Reference Rate;

provided that in the case of sub-paragraphs (ii), (iii) and (iv), the Benchmark Event shall occur on the date of the cessation of publication of the Reference Rate, the discontinuation of the Reference Rate, or the prohibition of use of the Reference Rate, as the case may be, and not the date of the relevant public statement;

Independent Adviser means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent financial adviser with appropriate expertise appointed by the Issuer at its own expense under this Condition 5(b)(vii);

Relevant Nominating Body means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate, as applicable:

- the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate, as applicable, relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate, as applicable; or
- (ii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate, as applicable, relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate, as applicable, (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof;

Successor Rate means a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

(c) Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or, in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless, upon due presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue until whichever is the earlier of:

- (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Note have been paid; and
- (ii) five (5) days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of such Note has been received by the Principal Paying Agent and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

(d) Interest Deferral

Interest on the Notes shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date in accordance with the Conditions unless such date is declared a Deferral Date.

(i) Optional Interest Payment Dates

On any Optional Interest Payment Date, the Issuer may elect, by notice to the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent pursuant to paragraph (iv) below, to defer payment of all (but not some only) of the interest accrued to that date, and the Issuer

shall not have any obligation to make such payment and any non-payment resulting from such deferral shall not constitute a default by the Issuer for any purpose, unless the Interest Payment Date constitutes a Compulsory Interest Payment Date in which case interest on the Notes will be payable and will not be deferred.

Any interest not paid on an Optional Interest Payment Date and deferred in accordance with this paragraph (i) shall so long as the same remains outstanding constitute **Arrears of Interest** and shall be payable as outlined below.

(ii) Mandatory Interest Deferral Dates

On any Mandatory Interest Deferral Date, the Issuer will (subject as provided below) be obliged, by notice to the Noteholders and the Principal Paying Agent pursuant to paragraph (iv) below, to defer payment of all (but not some only) of the interest accrued to that date, and the Issuer shall not have any obligation to make such payment and any non-payment resulting from such deferral shall not constitute a default by the Issuer for any purpose.

Notwithstanding that an Interest Payment Date may be a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date, interest may still be paid on such Interest Payment Date to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations provided that all of the following conditions are met:

- (A) on or prior to such Interest Payment Date, the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority has been exceptionally given with respect to the payment of the relevant interest and/or Arrears of Interest;
- (B) the payment of the relevant interest and/or Arrears of Interest does not further weaken the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group; and
- (C) the applicable minimum capital requirement (MCR) (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such requirement by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) is complied with after the payment of the relevant interest and/or Arrears of Interest has been made.

Any interest not paid on a Mandatory Interest Deferral Date and deferred in accordance with this paragraph (ii) shall so long as the same remains outstanding constitute **Arrears of Interest** and shall be payable as outlined below.

(iii) Arrears of Interest

Arrears of Interest may, subject to the fulfilment of the Conditions to Settlement, at the option of the Issuer, be paid in whole or in part at any time but all Arrears of Interest in respect of all Notes for the time being outstanding shall become due in full on whichever is the earliest of:

- (A) the next Interest Payment Date which is a Compulsory Interest Payment Date; or
- (B) the date of any redemption of the Notes in accordance with the provisions relating to redemption of the Notes; or
- (C) the date upon which a judgment is made by a competent court for the judicial liquidation of the Issuer (*liquidation judiciaire*) or for the sale of the whole of the business (*cession totale de l'entreprise*) following an order of judicial reorganisation (*redressement judiciaire*) in respect of the Issuer or in the event of the liquidation of the Issuer for any other reason.

Conditions to Settlement are satisfied on any day with respect to any payment of Arrears of Interest, if any, if (i) the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority and (ii) no Regulatory Deficiency has occurred and is continuing or would be caused by such payment. Notwithstanding that a Regulatory Deficiency may have occurred and be continuing on the date due for payment of Arrears of Interest, or if such payment would of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency, Arrears of Interest may still be paid at any time to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations and provided that all of the following conditions are met:

- (A) on or prior to the relevant payment date, the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority has been exceptionally given with respect to such payment;
- (B) such payment does not further weaken the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group; and
- (C) the applicable minimum capital requirement (MCR) (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such requirement by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) is complied with after such payment has been made.
- (iv) Notice of Deferral and Payment of Arrears of Interest

The Issuer shall give not less than five (5) nor more than thirty (30) Business Days' prior notice to (x) the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 and (y) the Principal Paying Agent:

- (A) of any Optional Interest Payment Date on which the Issuer elects to defer interest as provided in paragraph (i) above;
- (B) of any Mandatory Interest Deferral Date and specifying that interest will not be paid due to a Regulatory Deficiency, either continuing or being caused by such interest payment, on the next Interest Payment Date, provided that if the Regulatory Deficiency occurs less than five (5) Business Days before such Interest Payment Date, the Issuer shall give notice of the interest deferral as soon as practicable under the circumstances before such Mandatory Interest Deferral Date; and
- (C) of any date upon which amounts in respect of Arrears of Interest shall become due and payable.

So long as the Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and are admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, or listed and admitted to trading on any other stock exchange, and the rules of such stock exchange so require, notice of any such deferral shall also be given as soon as reasonably practicable to such stock exchange.

(v) Partial Payment of Arrears of Interest

If amounts in respect of Arrears of Interest are paid in part:

- (A) Arrears of Interest accrued for any period shall not be payable until full payment has been made of all Arrears of Interest that have accrued during any earlier period; and
- (B) the amount of Arrears of Interest payable in respect of any Note in respect of any period, shall be calculated pro rata to the total amount of all unpaid Arrears of Interest accrued in respect of that period to the date of payment.

6. PAYMENTS

(a) Method of payment

Subject as provided below, payments will be made by credit or transfer to a Euro account (or any other account to which Euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee.

Payments will be subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in any jurisdiction (whether by operation of law or agreement of the Issuer) and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the **Code**) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto (**FATCA**). The Issuer will not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8.

(b) Presentation of Definitive Bearer Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Definitive Bearer Notes, and payments of interest in respect of Definitive Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against presentation and surrender (or, in the case of part payment of any sum due, endorsement) of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia, its territories, its possessions and other areas subject to its jurisdiction)).

If the due date for redemption of any Definitive Bearer Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Issue Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant Definitive Bearer Note.

(c) Payments in respect of Global Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by a Global Note will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to Definitive Bearer Notes and otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant Global Note against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such Global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America and its possessions). A record of each payment made against presentation or surrender of a Global Note, distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such Global Note by the Paying Agent to which it was presented and such record shall be *prima facie* evidence that the payment in question has been made. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of **Payment Day** set out below.

(d) General provisions applicable to payments

The holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, for his/her share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such Global Note.

(e) Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, **Payment Day** means any day which (subject to Condition 9) is (x) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the relevant place of presentation, in Luxembourg and in Paris and (y) a TARGET Business Day.

(f) Interpretation of principal and interest

Any reference in the Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 8;
- (ii) the Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iii) any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in the Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 8.

7. REDEMPTION AND PURCHASE

The Notes may not be redeemed or purchased other than in accordance with this Condition and any redemption or purchase is subject to the fulfilment of the Conditions to Redemption and Purchase (as set out in Condition 7(j) below).

(a) Redemption at maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at the Redemption Amount on the Final Maturity Date.

(b) Optional Redemption for tax reasons

(i) The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time by giving not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five (45) days' notice to the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders, if on the date of the next payment due under the Notes or Coupons, the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 8 as a result of (a) any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of France or any political subdivision of, or any authority in, or of, France having power to tax, or (b) any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, and such change or amendment only occurs or became effective on or after the Issue Date of the Notes, provided that the due date for redemption shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date on which the Issuer could make such payment without withholding or deduction for French taxes (a Withholding Tax Event). Prior to the giving of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent (i) a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer to redeem as aforesaid have occurred and stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment.

If the Issuer would on the date of the next payment due under the Notes or Coupons be prevented by French law from making payment to the Noteholders of the full amount then due and payable, notwithstanding the undertaking to pay additional amounts contained in Condition 8 (a **Gross-up Event**), then the Issuer shall forthwith give notice of such fact to the Principal Paying Agent and subject to having given not less than seven (7) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders, the Issuer may redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes then outstanding, provided that the due date for redemption of which notice hereunder shall be given, shall be the latest practicable date on which the Issuer could make payment without withholding or deduction for French taxes, or if such date is past, as soon as is practicable thereafter.

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 7(b)(i) will be redeemed at their Redemption Amount.

(ii) The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time by giving not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five (45) days' notice to the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 14, the Noteholders, if on the date of the next payment due under the Notes, the part of the interest payable by the Issuer under the Notes or Coupons that is tax-deductible is reduced as a result of (a) any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of France or any political subdivision of, or any authority in, or of, France having power to tax, or (b) any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, and such change or amendment only occurs or became effective on or after the Issue Date, provided that the due date for redemption shall be no earlier than the latest practicable date preceding the effective date on which the part of the interest payable under the Notes or Coupons that is tax-deductible is reduced (a Tax Deductibility Event). Prior to the giving of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent (i) a certificate signed by a director of the Issuer stating that the part of the interest payable under the Notes or Coupons that is tax-deductible is reduced as aforesaid and that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to such effect.

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 7(b)(ii) will be redeemed at their Redemption Amount.

(c) Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

The Issuer may, having given:

- (A) not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14; and
- (B) not less than fifteen (15) days before the giving of the notice referred to in (i), notice to the Principal Paying Agent;

(which notices shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem all or some only of the Notes then outstanding on (i) any day falling in the period from (and including) the First Call Date to (and including) the First Reset Date or (ii) any Interest Payment Date thereafter at their Redemption Amount. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed (**Redeemed Notes**) will be selected individually by lot, in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Bearer Notes, and in accordance with the rules of Euroclear and/or Clearstream (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion), in the case of Redeemed

Notes represented by a Global Note, not more than thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption (such selection date, the **Selection Date**). In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by Definitive Bearer Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 14 not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the date fixed for redemption. No exchange of the relevant Global Note will be permitted during the period from (and including) the Selection Date to (and including) the date fixed for redemption pursuant to this paragraph and notice to that effect shall be given by the Issuer to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 at least five (5) days prior to the Selection Date.

(d) Optional Redemption, Exchange or Variation for Regulatory Reasons

(i) Optional Redemption for Regulatory Reasons

Upon the occurrence of a Regulatory Event with respect to the Notes, the Notes will be redeemable in whole, but not in part, at any time, at the option of the Issuer having given not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 at their Redemption Amount.

(ii) Exchange/Variation for Regulatory Reasons

Upon the occurrence of a Regulatory Event with respect to the Notes on or after the Issue Date, the Issuer may, as an alternative to paragraph (i) above, on any Interest Payment Date, without the consent of the Noteholders, (a) exchange the Notes for Qualifying Securities replacing the Notes, or (b) vary the terms of the Notes so that they become Qualifying Securities, so that in either case the aggregate nominal amount of the Qualifying Securities is treated under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital. Any such exchange or variation is subject to:

- (x) the Issuer giving not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14;
- (y) the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority being obtained;
- (z) the Issuer complying with the rules of any stock exchange (or any other relevant authority) on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading, and (for so long as the rules of such exchange require) the publication of any appropriate supplement, listing particulars or offering circular in connection therewith, and the Qualifying Securities continuing to be listed on or admitted to the same stock exchange as the Notes if they were listed immediately prior to the relevant exchange and/or variation;
- (aa) the terms of the exchange or variation are not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders as certified by a director of the Issuer and by a representative of each of two independent investment banks of international standing to the benefit of the Noteholders (for the avoidance of doubt the Principal Paying Agent shall accept the certificates of the Issuer and investment banks as sufficient evidence of the occurrence of a Regulatory Event and that such exchange or variation to the terms of the Notes are not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders); and

(bb) the issue of legal opinions addressed to the Principal Paying Agent from one or more international law firms of good reputation confirming (i) in respect of French law, that the Issuer has capacity to assume all rights and obligations under the Qualifying Securities and has obtained all necessary corporate or governmental authorisation to assume all such rights and obligations and (ii) in respect of English law, the legality, validity and enforceability of such exchange or variation and of the Qualifying Securities.

Any such exchange or variation shall be binding on the Noteholders and shall be notified to them in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter.

(e) Optional Redemption, Exchange or Variation for Rating Reasons

(i) Optional Redemption for Rating Reasons

If at any time the Issuer determines that a Rating Methodology Event has occurred with respect to the Notes, such Notes will be redeemable in whole, but not in part, at any time, at the option of the Issuer having given not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 at their Redemption Amount.

(ii) Exchange/Variation for Rating Reasons

If at any time the Issuer determines that a Rating Methodology Event has occurred with respect to the Notes on or after the Issue Date, the Issuer may, as an alternative to paragraph (i) above, on any Interest Payment Date, without the consent of the Noteholders, (a) exchange the Notes for Qualifying Securities replacing the Notes, or (b) vary the terms of the Notes so that they become Qualifying Securities, subject to and in accordance with the conditions set out in paragraphs (d)(ii)(x) to (bb) above, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis* with respect to such Rating Methodology Event.

Any such exchange or variation shall be binding on the Noteholders and shall be notified to them in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter.

(f) Optional Redemption for Accounting Reasons

Upon the occurrence of an Accounting Event with respect to the Notes, the Notes will be redeemable in whole, but not in part, at any time, at the option of the Issuer having given not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, at their Redemption Amount.

Before the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition, the Issuer shall deliver to the Principal Paying Agent a certificate signed by a Director of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of the facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred.

(g) Clean-up redemption at the option of the Issuer

In the event that at least 80 per cent. of the initial aggregate nominal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any further Tranche(s) of the Notes issued pursuant to Condition 16 will be deemed to have been originally issued) have been redeemed and/or purchased and cancelled, the Issuer may, at its option (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders) and having given not less than fifteen (15) nor more than thirty (30) days' notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, redeem all, but not some only, of the remaining Notes then outstanding, at

their Redemption Amount together with accrued interest (including Arrears of Interest) up to but excluding the date of redemption (the "**Clean-up Call Option**").

(h) Purchases

Subject as otherwise provided in these Conditions, the Issuer or any subsidiary of the Issuer may at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise. All Notes so purchased by the Issuer may (i) be held and resold in accordance with applicable French laws and regulations or (ii) be cancelled in accordance with Article L.228-74 of the French *Code de Commerce*.

(i) Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed or purchased for cancellation by the Issuer shall be cancelled forthwith by surrendering each such Notes to the Principal Paying Agent to be cancelled (together, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, with all unmatured Coupons and Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption). Any Notes so cancelled may not be reissued or resold and the obligations of the Issuer in respect of any such Notes shall be discharged.

(j) Conditions to Redemption and Purchase

Any redemption or purchase of the Notes is subject to the conditions (in addition to others as described herein) that (i) the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority; (ii) no Regulatory Deficiency has occurred and is continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase and such redemption or purchase would not of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency and (iii) if and to the extent required under the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations in order for the Notes to be treated at least as "tier two" own funds regulatory capital (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such concept by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) of the Issuer and/or the Group for the purposes of the determination of the Issuer's and/or the Group's regulatory capital, no Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up has occurred and is continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase.

Should a Regulatory Deficiency or an Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up occur after a notice for redemption has been given to the Noteholders, such redemption notice shall become automatically void and notice of such fact shall be given promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 14.

Notwithstanding that a Regulatory Deficiency may have occurred and be continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase, or if such redemption or purchase would of itself cause a Regulatory Deficiency, the Notes may still be redeemed or purchased on such date to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations and provided that all of the following conditions are met:

- (A) on or prior to such date, the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority has been exceptionally given with respect to the relevant redemption or purchase of the Notes;
- (B) the relevant redeemed or purchased Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality; and
- (C) the applicable minimum capital requirement (MCR) (or, if different, whatever terminology is employed to denote such requirement by the then Applicable Supervisory Regulations) is complied with after the relevant redemption or purchase of the Notes has been made.

Notwithstanding that an Insolvent Insurance Affiliate Winding-up may have occurred and be continuing on the date due for redemption or purchase, the Notes may still be redeemed or purchased on such date to the extent permitted under, and in accordance with, the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations and provided that, on or prior to such date, the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority has been exceptionally given with respect to the relevant redemption or purchase of the Notes.

The Notes may not be redeemed or purchased pursuant to Conditions 7(e), (f), (g) and (h)(ii) prior to January 10, 2027, or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, unless (but only if and to the extent so required or otherwise as provided by the Solvency II Directive and the Applicable Supervisory Regulations at the time of such redemption or purchase) the relevant redeemed or purchased Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality.

The Notes may not be redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(d) prior to January 10, 2027, or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, unless (i) the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality or (ii) (x) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement, after the redemption, will be exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group, including the Issuer's mediumterm capital management plan) and (y) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Supervisory Authority that the Regulatory Event was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date of the Notes or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes and (z) the Relevant Supervisory Authority considers such change in the regulatory classification of the Notes to be sufficiently certain. For the avoidance of doubt, the conditions set out in paragraph (ii) above are deemed to be fulfilled once the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority.

The Notes may not be redeemed pursuant to Condition 7(b)(i) (where a Redemption Alignment Event has occurred) or Condition 7(b)(ii) prior to January 10, 2027, or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, unless (i) the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same guality or (ii) (x) the Relevant Supervisory Authority has confirmed to the Issuer that it is satisfied that the Solvency Capital Requirement, after the redemption, will be exceeded by an appropriate margin (taking into account the solvency position of the Issuer and/or the Group, including the Issuer's mediumterm capital management plan) and (y) the Issuer demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Relevant Supervisory Authority that the Withholding Tax Event, Gross-up Event or Tax Deductibility Event is material and was not reasonably foreseeable at the Issue Date of the Notes or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling five years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes. For the avoidance of doubt, the conditions set out in paragraph (ii) above are deemed to be fulfilled once the Issuer has obtained the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority.

Except in circumstances where a Redemption Alignment Event has occurred, the Notes may not be redeemed following a Withholding Tax Event pursuant to Condition 7(b)(i) prior to January 10, 2032 or (if any further Tranche(s) of the Notes are issued pursuant to Condition 16 and consolidated to form a single series with the Notes) the date falling ten years after the issue date of the last tranche of the Notes, unless the relevant redeemed Notes are replaced by other own funds regulatory capital of at least the same quality.

8. TAXATION

(a) Withholding Tax

All payments of principal, interest and other assimilated revenues by or on behalf of the Issuer in respect of the Notes or Coupons shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of France or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law.

(b) Additional Amounts

If French law should require that any payments in respect of the Notes or Coupons be subject to withholding or deduction with respect to any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges whatsoever imposed or levied by or on behalf of France or any political subdivision thereof, or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, the Issuer will, to the fullest extent then permitted by law, pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes or Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal, interest and other assimilated revenues which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

- presented for payment by or on behalf of, a holder who would not be liable or subject to such withholding or deduction by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to the relevant tax authority; or
- (ii) presented for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder or Couponholder (including a beneficial owner (*ayant droit*)) who is liable for such taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with France other than the mere holding of (or beneficial ownership with respect to) such Note or Coupon; or
- (iii) presented for payment more than thirty (30) days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to an additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day assuming that day to have been a Payment Day (as defined in Condition 6(e)).

Notwithstanding anything in this Condition 8 to the contrary, neither the Issuer, any paying agent nor any other person making payments on behalf of the Issuer shall be required to pay additional amounts in respect of such taxes imposed pursuant to FATCA.

As used herein: the **Relevant Date** means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Principal Paying Agent on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

9. PRESCRIPTION

The Notes and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of ten (10) years (in the case of principal) and five (5) years (in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) therefor.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition.

10. ENFORCEMENT EVENTS

There will be no event of default in respect of the Notes. If any judgment is issued for the judicial liquidation (*liquidation judiciaire*) of the Issuer or if the Issuer is liquidated for any other reason, then the Notes shall become immediately due and payable at their nominal amount together with any accrued interest (including Arrears of Interest) to the date of payment.

11. REPLACEMENT OF NOTES, COUPONS AND TALONS

Should any Note, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

12. PAYING AGENTS

The name of the Principal Paying Agent and its specified office is set forth below:

BNP Paribas Securities Services, Luxembourg Branch 60 avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg (Postal address: L-2085) Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that:

- (a) there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent; and
- (b) so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to trading by any other relevant authority, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority.

Any variation, termination, appointment or change shall only take effect (other than in the case of insolvency, or where the Paying Agent becomes a FATCA Noncompliant Financial Institution or otherwise subject to withholding under FATCA, when it shall be of immediate effect) after not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty-five (45) days' prior notice thereof shall have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

In acting under the Agency Agreement, the Paying Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation to, or relationship of agency or trust with, any Noteholders or Couponholders. The Agency Agreement contains provisions permitting any entity into which any Paying Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated or to which it transfers all or substantially all of its assets to become the successor agent.

As used herein:

FATCA Compliant FFI means a "Participating FFI", a "deemed-compliant FFI", as such terms are defined pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code and any regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof or any person that can receive payments free of FATCA withholding; and

FATCA Noncompliant Financial Institution means a foreign financial institution (**FFI**) that, as from the effective date of any rules requiring withholding on "passthru payments" (as such terms are defined pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code and any regulations thereunder or official interpretations thereof), is not a FATCA Compliant FFI.

13. EXCHANGE OF TALONS

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 9.

14. NOTICES

All notices regarding the Notes will be deemed to be validly given if published (i) in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London and (ii) if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on, and listed on, the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, a daily newspaper of general circulation in Luxembourg and/or the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's website, www.bourse.lu. It is expected that any such publication in a newspaper will be made in the Financial Times in London and the *Luxemburger Wort* or the *Tageblatt* in Luxembourg. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a manner which complies with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed or by which they have been admitted to trading including publication on the website of the relevant stock exchange or relevant authority if required by those rules. Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication or, where required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the date of the first publication in all required newspapers.

Until such time as any Definitive Bearer Notes are issued, there may, so long as any Global Note is held in its entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, be substituted for publication as described in the first paragraph of this Condition, the delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream for communication by them to the holders of the Notes and, in addition, for so long as any Notes are listed on a stock exchange or are admitted to trading by another relevant authority and the rules and regulations of that stock exchange or relevant authority so require, such notice will be published on the website of the relevant stock exchange or relevant authority and/or in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the place or places required by those rules and regulations or as otherwise permitted by those rules and regulations. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the day after the day on which the said notice was given to Euroclear and/or Clearstream.

Notices to be given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together (in the case of any Definitive Bearer Note) with the relative Note or Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent. Whilst any of the Notes are represented by a Global Note, such notice may be given by any holder of a Note to the Principal Paying Agent through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, as the case may be, in such manner as the Principal Paying Agent and Euroclear and/or Clearstream, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

15. MEETINGS OF NOTEHOLDERS, MODIFICATION AND WAIVER

The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined below) of a modification of the Notes, the Coupons or any of the provisions of the Agency Agreement. Such a meeting (which need not be a physical meeting and instead may be by way of conference call, including by use of a videoconference platform) may be convened by the Issuer or Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution is one or more persons holding or representing in the aggregate not less than 50 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of the Notes or the Coupons (including modifying the date of maturity of the Notes or any date for payment of interest thereon, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Notes or the Coupons), the quorum shall be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned such meeting one or more persons holding or representing not less than one-third in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. The Agency Agreement provides that (i) a resolution passed at a meeting duly convened and held in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement by a majority consisting of not less than 75 per cent. of the votes cast on such resolution, (ii) a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all the Noteholders or (iii) consent given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of all the Noteholders, shall, in each case, be effective as an extraordinary resolution of the Noteholders (an **Extraordinary Resolution**). An Extraordinary Resolution passed by the Noteholders will be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at any meeting and whether or not they voted on the resolution, and on all Couponholders.

The Principal Paying Agent and the Issuer may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to:

- (a) any modification (except such modifications in respect of which an increased quorum is required as mentioned above) of the Notes, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is not prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders; or
- (b) any modification of the Notes, the Coupons or the Agency Agreement which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to correct a manifest or proven error or to comply with mandatory provisions of the law.

Any modifications of any of the Conditions shall be subject to the Prior Approval of the Relevant Supervisory Authority.

Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders and any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14 as soon as practicable thereafter.

For the avoidance of doubt, any exchange or variation of the Notes in connection with the occurrence of a Regulatory Event or a Rating Methodology Event shall be made in accordance with Conditions 7(d)(ii) or 7(e)(ii) only and any modification of the Floating Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes pursuant to a Benchmark Event shall be made in accordance with Condition 5 only, and will not require the approval of the Noteholders.

16. FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Notes (*assimilables*) or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes.

17. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

18. GOVERNING LAW AND SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION

(a) **Governing law and submission to jurisdiction**

The Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Notes and the Coupons and any noncontractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant, the Notes and the Coupons are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law, other than the provisions of Condition 4 paragraphs (a) and (b) which are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, French law.

The Issuer irrevocably agrees, for the benefit of the Noteholders and the Couponholders, that the courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Notes and/or the Coupons, (including a dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes and/or the Coupons) and accordingly submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts.

The Issuer waives any objection to the courts of England on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum. To the extent allowed by law, the Noteholders and the Couponholders may take any suit, action or proceedings (together referred to as **Proceedings**) arising out of or in connection with the Notes and the Coupons (including any Proceedings relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes and/or the Coupons) against the Issuer in any other court of competent jurisdiction and concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

(b) Appointment of Process Agent

The Issuer appoints AXA UK plc at its principal office at 5 Old Broad Street, London EC2N 1AD as its agent for service of process, and undertakes that, in the event of AXA UK plc ceasing so to act or ceasing to be registered in England, it will appoint another person as its agent for service of process in England in respect of any Proceedings. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve proceedings in any other manner permitted by law.

(c) **Other documents**

The Issuer has in the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant submitted to the jurisdiction of the English courts and appointed an agent for service of process in terms substantially similar to those set out above.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, which will be approximately EUR 1,237,137,500, will be used by the Issuer for general corporate purposes including the refinancing of part of its outstanding debt prior to its due date.
RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

AXA published the following press releases on August 2, 2021, August 16, 2021, August 23, 2021, September 7, 2021, September 8, 2021, September 13, 2021, September 29, 2021, October 12, 2021, October 14, 2021, October 28, 2021, October 29, 2021, November 4, 2021, November 26, 2021 and on December 31, 2021:

"Paris, August 2, 2021

AXA's Board of Directors proposes the renewal of Thomas Buberl's term as Chief Executive Officer

Based on the recommendation of its Compensation and Governance Committee, AXA's Board of Directors decided to propose the renewal of **Thomas Buberl**'s mandate as a member of AXA's Board of Directors and Group Chief Executive Officer. The renewal of his mandate as a director, for a period of 4 years, will be proposed to AXA's shareholders at their next Annual General Meeting in April 2022.

Denis Duverne, Chairman of the Board of Directors, said: "The profound transformation of AXA led by Thomas Buberl and all the teams has enabled the Group to face an unprecedented health and economic crisis, to be very well positioned to respond to the new challenges of the insurance industry and to accelerate its development by relying on its great solidity, as shown by the recent excellent half-year results."

"Fully confident in the Group's future, the Board of Directors has unanimously decided, as proposed by the Compensation and Governance Committee chaired by **Jean-Pierre Clamadieu**, to confirm Thomas Buberl's renewal as Chief Executive Officer. The Board counts on him to successfully implement its strategic plan "Driving Progress 2023", to seize growth opportunities that will enable AXA to respond to the evolving needs of clients and society, and to pursue the Group's transformation over the longer term."

Thomas Buberl, Chief Executive Officer of AXA, commented: "I would like to thank the Board of Directors for the confidence it has placed in me. The decision to propose the renewal of my mandate as Chief Executive Officer of AXA is a tribute to the hard work and commitment of all the Group's employees and confirms the relevance of the strategic choices we have made over the past few years to prepare AXA for the new challenges ahead. On a personal level, I feel proud of what we have achieved together and am grateful to have the opportunity to continue leading this unique company over the coming years and to write a new page in its journey."

AXA to sell its insurance operations¹ in Singapore for USD 0.6 billion

AXA announced today that it has entered into an agreement with HSBC² to sell AXA Insurance Pte Ltd ("AXA Singapore").

Under the terms of the agreement, AXA will sell AXA Singapore for a total cash consideration of USD 575 million (or Euro 487 million³).

"This transaction is another step in AXA's simplification journey" said **Gordon Watson, CEO of AXA in Asia and in Africa**. In line with the Group's strategy, we are focusing on our core markets where we have the size, presence in the right business segments and a strong potential to grow. We have in Asia a unique set of assets across established and high potential markets where we are deploying our vision, notably in health and protection, bringing high value products and services to our customers."

"I would like to thank the management team and all the employees of AXA Singapore for their strong contribution and commitment over the years and wish them every success for the future."

The transaction is estimated to result in a negative net income impact of ca. Euro 160 million in AXA Group's FY21 consolidated financial statements.

The transaction is subject to closing conditions, including the receipt of regulatory approvals, and is expected to close by 4Q 2021.

About AXA Singapore

AXA Singapore is a composite insurer, offering L&S, Health and P&C solutions to ca. 1 million customers. It ranks 8th in the Life insurance market in Singapore with a 2% market share⁴ and 5th in the P&C market with a 4% market share⁵. The company distributes its products mainly through a mix of agents and local partnerships.

The IFRS gross revenues and underlying earnings of AXA Singapore recorded in the AXA Group's FY20 consolidated financial statements were Euro 579 million and Euro 20 million respectively."

¹ Operations in Singapore related to AXA XL, AXA France, AXA Partners, MAXIS and AXA Global Healthcare are not within the scope of this transaction.

² HSBC Insurance (Asia-Pacific) Holdings Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited.

³ 1 Euro = USD 1.1800 as of August 13, 2021 (Source: Bloomberg).

⁴ Source: Life Insurance Association of Singapore - based on FY20 Annual Premium Equivalent (APE).

⁵ Source: General Insurance Association of Singapore - based on FY20 gross written premiums.

AXA launches its 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021)

As each year, the AXA Group offers to its employees, in and outside of France, the opportunity to subscribe to shares issued by way of a capital increase reserved to employees.

The 2021 offering, called "Shareplan 2021", will take place in 36 countries and will involve approximately 110,000 employees who will, in most countries, be offered the opportunity to participate in both a classic offering and a leverage offering. The subscriber's initial investment in the leverage offering is guaranteed.

"We are pleased to offer, for the 28th consecutive year, a capital increase reserved for our employees. This operation, deeply rooted in AXA's culture, is a powerful lever to strengthen the existing links with our teams, by associating them even further to the Group's performance and its long-term successes", shared **Thomas Buberl**, CEO of Axa.

≻ ISSUER

AXA, ICB sectorial classification:Industry: 8000, FinancialsSuper sector: 8500, InsuranceSector: 8530, Non life InsuranceSubsector: 8532, Full line Insurance

➤ SHARES TO BE ISSUED

- Date of the Shareholders' Meeting having authorized the capital increase: April 29, 2021.
- Dates of the Board of Directors'/Chief Executive Officer's decision acting upon delegation of the Board of Directors: June 23, 2021 (principle of the offering and fixing of the reservation period) and expected on October12, 2021 (fixing of the Reference Price, the Subscription Prices and the dates of the retraction/subscription period).
- Type of share proposed, maximum number: pursuant to (i) the 25th resolution adopted by the Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021 and (ii) the decision of the Board of Directors of June 23, 2021, the offering will consist of the following:

An issue, without preferential subscription rights, of shares offered at a Subscription Price equal to:

- under the classic offering, for all countries: 80% of the Reference Price;
- under the leverage offering, for all countries: 93.25% of the Reference Price.
- ► The Reference Price will be equal to the arithmetical average of the 20 daily VWAPs (volume-weighted average prices), i.e. the arithmetic average of the average prices of the AXA shares exchanged in one trading day, weighted by the number of AXA shares exchanged for each price on Compartment A of Euronext Paris (excluding opening and closing prices), over a period of 20 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day before the Chief Executive Officer acting upon delegation of the Board of Directors of AXA, officially sets the opening date of the retraction/subscription period.
- ► The initial personal investment of the employees subscribing to the leverage offering will be guaranteed by a partner bank (Natixis) and the subscribers will be entitled to a portion of the share price appreciation with regards to the Reference Price (without discount).
- ► The maximum number of new shares that may be issued pursuant to the offering is 58,951,965 shares, corresponding to a capital increase of a nominal amount of approximately Euro 135 million.
- ▶ The new shares will be eligible for dividends declared in respect of periods as of January 1st, 2021.

> CONDITIONS RELATING TO SUBSCRIPTION

- ► Beneficiaries of the offering: unless local law requires otherwise, the individuals eligible for the offering are:
 - Employees who are under a valid work contract (open-ended or fixed-term) with one or more of the eligible AXA entities, members of the AXA International Group Employee Stock Purchase Plan (*Plan International d'Actionnariat de Groupe* or P.I.A.G.) or the AXA French Group Employee Savings Plan (*Plan d'Epargne d'Entreprise de Groupe* or P.E.E.G.), who are on the payroll on the first day of the reservation period and on the last day of the retractation/subscription period, and having on the last day of the retraction/subscription period at least 3 months of prior continuous or discontinuous service over the period running from January 1st, 2020 to the last day of the retraction/subscription period, pursuant to Article L.3342-1 of the French Labor Code;
 - Former employees of eligible entities (retired or semi-retired from these entities), having kept assets in an Employee Stock Ownership Fund (FCPE) and/or securities in a registered account within the AXAP.I.A.G. or the AXA P.E.E.G.;
 - As well as general insurance agents in France having an individual mandate with an entity that is a member of the P.E.E.G. and who market the products of such entity. This agreement must have been into effect for at least 3 months on the last day of the retraction/subscription period, pursuant to ArticlesL.3342-1 and D.3331-3 of the French Labor Code.

The entities eligible for the offering are those that have enrolled in the P.E.E.G. or in the P.I.A.G. including the amendments thereto.

- Preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders: the issue of shares will be made without preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders, in favor of members of an employee savings scheme pursuant to the provisions of Article L.225-138-1 of the French Commercial Code.
- Terms of subscription:
 - For the classic offering (other than Germany, Italy, South Korea, Spain and the United States) the news hares will be subscribed through FCPEs of which the employees will receive units. The employees will have direct voting rights at AXA's shareholders' meetings.

In Germany, Italy, South Korea, Spain and the United States, the shares will be subscribed directly by employees and will be held in registered accounts. They will have direct voting rights.

The classic offering will not be offered in Morocco.

- For the leverage offering other than in China, Italy, South Korea, the United States and Sweden where the leverage formula will not be offered, the new shares will be subscribed through FCPEs of which the employees will receive units. The employees will have direct voting rights at AXA's shareholders' meetings.
- Investment limit: in accordance with Article L.3332-10 of the French Labor Code, aggregate voluntary contributions by each eligible employee may not exceed one-fourth of that eligible employee's annual gross compensation or pension benefits¹, as the case may be (such investment limits could be lower pursuant to local laws). For the leverage offering, the investment limit of one-fourth of the employee's annual gross compensation or pension benefits is calculated after taking into account the complementary contribution of the partner bank (Natixis). During the retraction/subscription period, eligible employees will have the possibility to invest (i) in the classic plan under the same terms and conditions as those applicable during the reservation period and/or (ii) in the leverage plan with an

¹ As regards general insurance agents in France, only their professional income declared as income tax with regard to the past year will be taken into account.

investment ceiling reduced to 2.5% of their annualized eligible compensation (contribution of the partner bank included).

Minimum holding period of shares: participating employees will be obliged to hold their shares or FCPE units for a period of approximately five years, i.e. until June 1st, 2026 in France, until July 1st, 2026 for the rest of the world and until November 26, 2026 in Belgium, except in the case of a specified early exit event.

➤ TIMETABLE FOR THE OFFERING

- Unknown Subscription Price reservation period: from August 24, 2021 (inclusive) to September 7, 2021(inclusive).
- Fixing period to determine the Reference Price: from September 14, 2021 (inclusive) to October 11, 2021(inclusive) (subject to the fixing of the retraction/subscription period by the decision of AXA's Chief Executive Officer acting upon delegation of the Board of Directors, which should occur on October 12, 2021).
- Retraction/subscription period: expected to run from October 14, 2021 (inclusive) to October 18, 2021(inclusive), subject to the decision of AXA's Chief Executive Officer acting upon delegation of the Board of Directors.
- Date of the capital increase: expected on November 26, 2021.

► HEDGING TRANSACTIONS

The implementation of the leverage offering may lead the financial institution acting as the counterparty to the swap transaction (Natixis) to undertake hedging transactions, including prior to the implementation of the plan, in particular as from the beginning of the fixing period, and over the entire course of the plan.

≻ LISTING

Listing of the new shares on compartment A of Euronext Paris (ISN FR0000120628) will be requested as soon as possible after the capital increase expected on November 26, 2021 and will be completed at the latest by December 31st, 2021 on the same line as the existing shares.

> OTHER INFORMATION

The FCPE regulations (and key investor information documents related to the FCPEs) through which the employees may participate in the offering received the approval of the AMF (*Autorité des marchés financiers*) on May 19 and June 15, 2021.

This press release is made in reliance of the exemption from publishing a prospectus provided for in Article 1.4(i) and 1.5(h) of the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. This press release represents the document required to qualify for the exemption from the requirement to publish a prospectus as defined in the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

➤ CONTACT

For questions relating to the present offering, please contact your Human Resources Department."

AXA has completed the sale of its insurance operations in the Gulf region¹

AXA announced today that it has completed the sale of its 50% shareholding in AXA Gulf and its 34% shareholding in AXA Cooperative Insurance Company (in Saudi Arabia) to Gulf Insurance Group, for a cash consideration of USD 264 million (or Euro 222 million²).

The sale of AXA's 28% shareholding in AXA Green Crescent Insurance Company (in UAE), representing cash consideration of USD 5 million (or Euro 4 million²), has received required regulatory approvals and is also expected to close shortly."

¹ Excluding the sale of AXA's 28% shareholding in AXA Green Crescent Insurance Company (in UAE).

² 1 Euro = 1.189 USD as of September 3rd, 2021 (Source: Bloomberg).

AXA and Bharti have completed the combination of their non-life operations in India into ICICI Lombard

AXA and Bharti announced today that they have completed the combination of their non-life insurance operations in India, Bharti AXA General Insurance Company Limited ("Bharti AXA GI"), into ICICI Lombard General Insurance Company Limited ("ICICI Lombard"). AXA and Bharti's ownership of Bharti AXA GI was 49% and 51% respectively.

As the sale consideration of Bharti AXA GI, AXA and Bharti will receive a total of 35.8 million shares of ICICI Lombard, which represents Euro 664 million^{1,2}, at current market value."

¹ Based on ICICI Lombard closing share price in the National Stock Exchange (NSE) as at September 8, 2021.

² 1 Euro = 86.9771 INR as of September 7, 2021 (Source: Bloomberg).

Elimination of the dilutive impact of Shareplan 2021

In the context of the AXA Group's 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021)¹ and in order to eliminate any associated dilutive effect, AXA has executed today a share repurchase agreement with an investment services provider, whereby AXA will buy back its own shares for a maximum amount of Euro 319,400,000, in accordance with the terms of its share repurchase program², with a view to cancelling them.

The price per share to be paid by AXA shall be determined on the basis of the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average prices calculated over a period of 20 trading days commencing on September 14th, 2021 and corresponding to the fixing period for the shares to be issued under Shareplan 2021. Share buyback transactions by the investment services provider in relation to this agreement will not extend beyond October 11th, 2021."

¹ The AXA Group's 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021) has been authorized by the General Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021. Please refer to the press release issued on August 23, 2021 for further information on Shareplan 2021.

² AXA share repurchase program has been authorized by the General Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021.

AXA Future Risks Report 2021: Climate change and cyber risk top the list of concerns

- Despite the health crisis, climate change becomes once again the first on the ranking
- Cyber risk is on the rise and is becoming the number one concern in the United States
- Societies are still too unprepared to face these challenges

AXA releases the eighth edition of its **Future Risks Report** today. This global study measures and ranks the evolution of the perception of emerging risks as seen by a panel of risk management experts as well as by public opinion. More than 23,000 people were surveyed. This report is produced in partnership with the IPSOS research institute and the geopolitical analysis consultancy Eurasia Group.

Climate change risks are back at the top of the global ranking. Awareness is highest in Europe, where experts and the public once again place this risk at the top of the list. It is only in third place in Asia and the Middle East and only in fourth place in Africa, where the pandemic remains the main concern.

The study reveals a strong concern about **cyber risk** in a context still marked by the acceleration of the digital transformation and the explosion in the number of cyber-attacks. For the first time, this risk takes the lead in the United States and the second place in all other geographies.

The **pandemic risk**, which was ranked first last year, has dropped to third place in the experts' rankings, but remains the highest concerns of the general public, whose daily lives are still marked by the health crisis. The pandemic has had a lasting impact on the feeling of vulnerability to **health risks**. More than 70% of respondents say they are concerned about the risks of infectious diseases, chronic diseases, and the impact of long-term exposure to toxic substances.

In general, the survey reveals a low level of confidence in the ability of governments to address these risks alone. Faced with increasingly complex risks, more than 55% of respondents consider that a collective and global approach is the most appropriate way to propose effective solutions.

"As an insurer, our mission is to offer protection solutions for today's risks, but also to help our clients and society anticipate tomorrow's risks. AXA's Future Risks Report is an essential tool for achieving this. This edition is marked by the return of climate change as the number one risk, but also by the strong concern regarding cyber risk. In the aftermath of the health crisis, this report also reveals our society's high expectations towards public and private players to offer new and collective protection to face constantly evolving risks", commented **Thomas Buberl**, CEO of Axa."

AXA announces the Subscription Prices for its 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021)

The Subscription Prices for AXA's 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021) have been determined by decision of the Chief Executive Officer on October 12, 2021.

The Subscription Prices are based on a reference price of **Euro 23.57**, which is equal to the arithmetical average of the 20 daily VWAPs (volume-weighted average prices), *i.e.* the arithmetic average of average AXA share trading prices during a given trading day, weighted by the volume of AXA shares traded on Compartment A of Euronext Paris at each price (excluding opening and closing prices), over a period of 20 trading days between September 14, 2021 (inclusive) and October 11, 2021 (inclusive) (the "Reference Price").

Under the classic plan, for all countries, the Subscription Price will be equal to 80% of the Reference Price,

i.e. Euro 18.86

Under the leveraged plan, for all countries, the Subscription Price will be equal to 93.25% of the Reference Price,

i.e. Euro 21.98

The following information mainly summarises the other information contained in the press release relating to Shareplan 2021 dated August 23, 2021.

OBJECTIVE

As each year, the AXA Group offers to its employees, in and outside of France, the opportunity to subscribe to shares issued by way of a capital increase reserved to employees. In doing so, the AXA Group hopes to strengthen its relationship with its employees by closely associating them with the future development and results of the Group.

The 2021 offering, called "Shareplan 2021", is taking place in 36 countries and involves approximately 110,000 employees who will, in most countries, be offered the opportunity to participate in both a classic offering and a leverage offering. The subscriber's initial investment in the leverage offering is guaranteed.

≻ ISSUER

AXA, ICB sectorial classification:Industry: 8000, FinancialsSupersector: 8500, InsuranceSector: 8530, Non life InsuranceSubsector: 8532, Full line Insurance

➤ SHARES TO BE ISSUED

- Date of the Shareholders' Meeting having authorized the capital increase: April 29, 2021.
- Dates of the Board of Directors'/Chief Executive Officer's decision acting upon delegation of the Board of Directors: June 23, 2021 (principle of the offering and fixing of the reservation period) and October 12, 2021 (fixing of the Reference Price, the Subscription Prices and the dates of the retraction/subscription period).
- Type of share proposed, maximum number: pursuant to (i) the 25th resolution adopted by the Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021 and (ii) the decision of the Board of Directors of June 23, 2021, the offering will consist of the following:
- An issue, without preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders, of new shares offered at a Subscription Price equal to:

- under the classic offering, for all countries: 80% of the Reference Price;

- under the leverage offering, for all countries: 93.25% of the Reference Price.

- ► The initial personal investment of the employees subscribing to the leverage offering will be guaranteed by a partner bank (Natixis) and the subscribers will be entitled to a portion of the share price appreciation with regards to the Reference Price (without discount).
- ► The maximum number of new shares that may be issued pursuant to the offering is 58,951,965 shares, corresponding to a capital increase of a nominal amount of approximately Euro 135 million. In accordance with the provisions of Article L.225-138-1 of the French Commercial Code, the number of newly issued shares will correspond to the number of shares actually subscribed by the Beneficiaries and will be known at the end of the retraction/subscription period.
- ▶ The new shares will be eligible for dividends declared in respect of periods as of January 1st, 2021.

➤ CONDITIONS RELATING TO SUBSCRIPTION

- Beneficiaries of the offering: unless local law requires otherwise, the individuals eligible for the offering are:
 - Employees who are under a valid work contract (open-ended or fixed-term) with one or more of the eligible AXA entities, members of the AXA International Group Employee Stock Purchase Plan (*Plan International d'Actionnariat de Groupe* or P.I.A.G.) or the AXA French Group Employee Savings Plan (*Plan d'Epargne d'Entreprise de Groupe* or P.E.E.G.), who are on the payroll on the first day of the reservation period and on the last day of the retraction/subscription period, and having on the last day of the retraction/subscription period at least 3 months of prior continuous or discontinuous service over the period running from January 1st, 2020 to the last day of the retraction/subscription period, pursuant to Article L.3342-1 of the French Labor Code;
 - Former employees of eligible entities (retired or semi-retired from these entities), having kept assets in an Employee Stock Ownership Fund (FCPE) and/or securities in a registered account within the AXA P.I.A.G. or the AXA P.E.E.G.;
 - As well as general insurance agents in France having an individual mandate with an entity that is a member of the P.E.E.G. and who market the products of such entity. This agreement must have been into effect for at least 3 months on the last day of the retraction/subscription period, pursuant to Articles L.3342-1 and D.3331-3 of the French Labor Code.

The entities eligible for the offering are those that have enrolled in the P.E.E.G. or in the P.I.A.G. including the amendments thereto.

- Preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders: the issue of shares will be made without preferential subscription rights for existing shareholders, in favor of members of an employee savings scheme pursuant to the provisions of Article L.225-138-1 of the French Commercial Code.
- Terms of subscription:
 - For the classic offering (other than Germany, Italy, South Korea, Spain and the United States) the new shares will be subscribed through FCPEs of which the employees will receive units. The employees will have direct voting rights at AXA's shareholders' meetings.

In Germany, Italy, South Korea, Spain and the United States, the shares will be subscribed directly by employees and will be held in registered accounts. They will have direct voting rights.

The classic offering will not be offered in Morocco.

- For the leverage offering other than in China, Italy, South Korea, the United States and Sweden where the leverage formula will not be offered, the new shares will be subscribed through FCPEs

of which the employees will receive units. The employees will have direct voting rights at AXA's shareholders' meetings.

- Investment limit: in accordance with Article L.3332-10 of the French Labor Code, aggregate voluntary contributions by each eligible employee may not exceed one-fourth of that eligible employee's annual gross compensation or pension benefits¹, as the case may be (such investment limits could be lower pursuant to local laws). For the leverage offering, the investment limit of one-fourth of the employee's annual gross compensation or pension benefits is calculated after taking into account the complementary contribution of the partner bank (Natixis). During the retraction/subscription period, eligible employees will have the possibility to invest (i) in the classic plan under the same terms and conditions as those applicable during the reservation period and/or (ii) in the leverage plan with an investment ceiling reduced to 2.5% of their annualized eligible compensation (contribution of the partner bank included).
- Minimum holding period of shares: participating employees will be obliged to hold their shares or FCPE units for a period of approximately five years, i.e. until June 1st, 2026 in France, until July 1st, 2026 for the rest of the world and until November 26th, 2026 in Belgium, except in the case of a specified early exit event.

► TIMETABLE FOR THE OFFERING

- Reservation period: from August 24th, 2021 (inclusive) to September 7th, 2021 (inclusive).
- Fixing period to determine the Reference Price: from September 14th, 2021 (inclusive) to October 11th, 2021 (inclusive). Hedging transactions relating to the leverage plan have been carried out by the banking partner during this period, and could continue to be implemented until the end of Shareplan 2021.
- Retraction/subscription period: from October 14th, 2021 (inclusive) to October 18th, 2021 (inclusive), as confirmed on October 12th, 2021 by the decision of AXA's Chief Executive Officer.
- Date of the capital increase: expected on November 26th, 2021.

≻ LISTING

Listing of the new shares on compartment A of Euronext Paris (ISN FR0000120628) will be requested as soon as possible after the capital increase expected on November 26th, 2021 and will be completed at the latest by December 31st, 2021 on the same line as the existing shares.

➤ OTHER INFORMATION

The FCPE regulations (and key investor information documents related to the FCPEs) through which the employees may participate in the offering received the approval of the AMF (*Autorité des marchés financiers*) on May 19th and June 15th, 2021.

This press release is made in reliance of the exemption from publishing a prospectus provided for in Article 1.4(i) and 1.5(h) of the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129. This press release represents the document required to qualify for the exemption from the requirement to publish a prospectus as defined in the Prospectus Regulation (EU) 2017/1129.

➤ CONTACT

For questions relating to the present offering, please contact your Human Resources Department."

¹ As regards general insurance agents in France, only their professional income declared as income tax with regard to the past year will be taken into account.

AXA announces a plan to fight against deforestation to preserve biodiversity

AXA announces today new commitments to preserve biodiversity by implementing a plan to fight against the deterioration of forest ecosystems. Deforestation is one of the main causes of biodiversity loss and carbon emissions. It even represents a double loss for the climate because forests are the greatest contributors to carbon capture.

To protect these ecosystems, AXA will invest **1.5 billion euros to support sustainable forest management**, including 500 million euros in reforestation projects in emerging countries, enabling a total of 25 megatons of CO2 to be captured each year. Currently, with more than 60,000 hectares of forests in its portfolio, managed on behalf of the AXA Group, all of which are certified by the Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification or the Forest Stewardship Council, AXA IM is an active player in sustainable forest management.

AXA will also strengthen its investment and insurance requirements in activities that actively contribute to deforestation. This will concern certain soy, palm oil, timber, and cattle production in regions where these industries strongly contribute to deforestation.

Furthermore, AXA is joining the World Heritage Sites initiative, launched by the United Nations Principles for Sustainable Insurance and WWF¹, and will implement **specific exclusions on its insurance activities to protect the main biodiversity reserves identified by UNESCO**. Half of these sites, spread over 110 countries, are recognized as biodiversity hotspots, and play a key role in natural disaster prevention.

"Forests represent 80% of the Earth's biodiversity and play an essential role in the fight against climate change. AXA has been a pioneer in the financial industry by adopting, in 2013, restrictions on unsustainable palm oil operations to protect stressed ecosystems. In the face of the climate emergency, and prior to the COP26, we are proud to extend our commitments and announce new measures to fight deforestation, protect forest ecosystems, and preserve biodiversity", said **Thomas Buberl**, CEO of AXA.

Lastly, AXA will continue its ongoing commitment to biodiversity conservation through its work as a founding member of the Taskforce on Nature-related Financial Disclosures. This initiative will play a key role in developing a reporting framework that will enable financial institutions to identify and analyze economic activities that have a direct and indirect material impact on biodiversity."

¹ https://www.unepfi.org/psi/world-heritage/

Alexander Vollert is appointed Group Chief Operating Officer of AXA and is succeeded by Thilo Schumacher as CEO of AXA Germany

AXA announces the appointment of **Alexander Vollert**, currently CEO of AXA Germany, as Group Chief Operating Officer, effective December 1st. He succeeds Astrid Stange and will report to Frédéric de Courtois, Group Deputy CEO and a Member of the AXA Group Management Committee.

Alexander Vollert will be replaced by **Thilo Schumacher**, currently Head of Life, Savings and Health and a Member of the Executive Committee of AXA Germany, effective December 1st and pending to regulatory approval. He will report to Antimo Perretta, CEO of AXA Europe & Latin America and a Member of the AXA Group Management Committee.

Biographies

Alexander Vollert joined AXA in September 2016 and directly started in his current role as CEO of AXA Germany. Before he joined AXA, Alexander worked at Allianz Deutschland AG for over seven years and assumed various roles, from Head of Business Organisation to COO for Life, Health and P&C as well as CEO of the German P&C business (Allianz Versicherungs-AG). Before joining Allianz, he worked at McKinsey & Company, Inc. for nine years across various markets and insurance related topics. Alexander has a master's degree in industrial engineering from the University of Karlsruhe, where he also received his PhD. In addition to his role at AXA, Alexander is Supervisory Board Chairman of ROLAND Rechtsschutz-Versicherungs-AG as well as a member of the Advisory Board for the AXA Research Fund.

Thilo Schumacher has been a member of the Executive Committee of AXA Germany since 2012, among others for the Strategy and Organisation division and, since the beginning of 2019, for Life, Savings and Health insurance. Before joining AXA Germany in 2006, Thilo worked at McKinsey & Company, Inc. for six years and is also holding a Phd in business administration."

AXA extends its Oil and Gas exclusions to support the energy transition

In the run-up to COP26, AXA extends its commitment to fight climate change and protect biodiversity. AXA announces several new milestones in its approach to the energy sector by strengthening its existing Oil and Gas exclusions, with a specific focus on unconventional activities and new greenfield explorations.

"The climate emergency requires us to step up our actions and support the transition towards a low-carbon economy. The unprecedented and complex transformation needed can only happen by enabling companies from the energy sector to implement ambitious transition plans. Going forward, AXA is determined to focus its support only on actors with the most far-reaching and credible transition strategies", said **Thomas Buberl**, CEO of AXA.

AXA's new commitments are the following¹:

Firstly, AXA will stop investing in and underwriting new upstream oil greenfield exploration projects unless they are carried out by companies with the most far-reaching and credible transition plans.

- AXA excludes all new direct investments in listed equities and corporate bonds in developed markets in Oil and Gas companies operating in upstream and/or oilfield services and/or downstream subsectors, as well as most midstream players. AXA selects integrated Oil and Gas companies for investments based on a restrictive selection process. Less than 5% of the approximately 650 companies identified in the Global Oil and Gas Exit List by NGO Urgewald² meet AXA's criteria.
- From 2023, AXA will apply the same selection process, and take into account the Science-Based Targets initiative (SBTi) framework as it becomes available, for its underwriting business of new insurance coverage on new upstream oil greenfield exploration projects.

Secondly, AXA will significantly reduce its investment and insurance exposure to unconventional exploration and production from its business from 2022, as follows:

- Arctic: AXA extends the scope of its Artic investment and underwriting restrictions beyond the Arctic circle and the 70°N zone in alignment with the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). Only businesses with Norwegian operations in the AMAP region will be maintained, given their high environmental standards and lower operational carbon footprint. AXA will strengthen the thresholds applicable to both its investments and insurance activities in this particularly fragile region, excluding new investments and underwriting coverage for Oil and Gas extraction activities carried out in the AMAP region by companies deriving more than 10% of their production from the AMAP region or producing more than 5% of the worldwide volume of AMAP-based Oil & Gas. For underwriting, exemptions may be granted if the projects are carried out by Oil and Gas companies with the most far-reaching and credible transition plans.
- Oil sands: on top of the existing restrictions in place, AXA will adopt a more stringent policy by ceasing direct investments in companies producing more than 5% of the worldwide volume of oil sands. For underwriting, current exclusions will be extended to all lines of business.
- Fracking / shale Oil and Gas: AXA will no longer directly invest in companies, nor provide any insurance coverage to activities of companies, deriving more than 30% of their production from fracking / shale Oil and Gas.

¹ Please refer to AXA's memorandum entitled "AXA Group Energy Policy, Focus on the Oil and Gas Industry" for further details on AXA's new commitments (<u>https://www.axa.com/en/about-us/climate-change-and-biodiversity-strategy</u>).

² <u>https://urgewald.org/english</u>. As the final version of the Global Oil and Gas Exit List will expected to be released in November 2021, AXA refer to a provisional version of this list.

Lastly, AXA continues to intensify its investments in green and low-carbon energies.

• The Group's green investment target increases to Euro 26 billion by 2023, compared to Euro 24 billion announced at the end of 2020.

"With over 10 years of experience and a long-standing commitment to adapt its business and leverage its strengths in the fight against climate change, AXA continues to tighten its investment and underwriting criteria, which are today among the most demanding in our industry. As the world enters a decisive decade in this fight, AXA aims to continue working and engaging with all the relevant players to deliver on its Net-Zero commitments, while continuing to support economies and societies in this unprecedented transformation", added **Thomas Buberl**."

AXA's Board of Directors approved the launch of a share buy-back program for up to Euro 1.7 billion

"The share buy-back program announced today reflects the strength of AXA's balance sheet, and demonstrates the Group's financial discipline. It is also a reflection of the confidence we have in our business profile, strategy and prospects", said **Thomas Buberl, Chief Executive Officer of AXA**.

In addition to the Euro 1.7 billion share buy-back program announced today, AXA intends to launch a further share buy-back program in 2022 for up to Euro 0.5 billion to neutralize earnings dilution from disposals announced after December 1, 2020¹, as communicated during AXA's Investor Day on December 1, 2020.

The Euro 1.7 billion share buy-back program is expected to commence on or about November 8, 2021, and to be completed by the end of April 2022. AXA will buy back its own shares in accordance with the terms of its share repurchase program which has been authorized by the General Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021. AXA intends to cancel all repurchased shares.

In the event that one or several banks are mandated to carry out the share buy-back program(s) referred to above, further details will be communicated at the appropriate time."

¹ Currently expected closings include Greece, Malaysia and Singapore.

9M21 Activity Indicators - Continued strong performance

• **Total revenues**¹ increased by 7%, to Euro 76.0 billion:

o/w P&C Commercial lines revenues up 7% to Euro 25.5 billion

o/w **Health** revenues up 4% to Euro 11.5 billion

o/w **L&S** revenues up 12% to Euro 24.5 billion

o/w Asset Management revenues up 17% to Euro 1.1 billion

• **Solvency II ratio**² at 214%, up 2pts vs 1H21

"AXA continued to deliver an excellent performance in the first nine months of 2021. said **Alban de Mailly Nesle, Chief Financial Officer of AXA**. "Revenues increased overall by 7%o, with all business lines and geographies contributing to this strong growth.

"In Life & Savings, revenues grew by 12% with continued focus on a high quality business mix. Growth dynamics remained strong in P&C Commercial lines, up 7%, benefiting from a favorable pricing environment, notably at AXA XL. In Asset Management, AXA IM had another very good quarter in both Core and Alts, and grew revenues by 17% in the first nine months."

"The Group's Solvency II ratio further strengthened to 214°% at the end of September Taking into consideration the strong level of solvency and the strength of AXA's balance sheet more broadly, and as announced in our earlier press release, the Board of Directors approved today a share buy-back program, including the immediate launch of up to Euro 1.7 billion, and an intention to launch up to a further Euro 0.5 billion in 2022 to offset earnings dilution from recent disposals³."

"The Group also announced strong new commitments to contribute to the fight against climate change and to preserve biodiversity. AXA has extended its investment and insurance exclusions in Oil and Gas, as well as in activities actively contributing to deforestation, investing Euro 1.5 billion to support sustainable forests."

"These excellent achievements are the result of the collaborative work of our employees, agents and partners.

I would like to thank them, as well as our clients for their continued trust and loyalty. "

Gross revenues (in Euro billion)								
	9M20	9M21	Reported change	Comparable change				
Gross revenues ¹	73.4	76.0	+4%	+7%				
o/w Property & Casualty	38.0	38.5	+1%	+5%				
o/w Health	11.3	11.5	+1%	+4%				
o/w Life & Savings	22.8	24.5	+8%	+12%				
o/w Asset Management	0.9	1.1	+16%	+17%				

All notes are on page 94 of this document.

KEY HIGHLIGHTS

9M21 key highlights

Revenues

Total revenues grew strongly, by 7%, reflecting growth in all business segments: (i) **Property & Casualty** (+5%), with Commercial lines growing at 7% mostly from favorable price effects, notably at AXA XL, and stable revenues in Personal lines, (ii) **Health (+4%)** with continued growth across most geographies, (iii) **Life & Savings (+12%)**, notably reflecting strong performance in Individual Savings in France, mostly in Unit-Linked, as well as strong growth in Asia primarily in Japan and Hong Kong, and (iv) **Asset Management (+17%)**, driven by higher management and performance fees.

Solvency

Solvency II ratio² was 214% at September 30, 2021, up 2 points versus June 30, 2021, mainly driven by (i) a positive operating return net of the accrued dividend for 3Q21, (ii) favorable financial market conditions primarily linked to slightly higher interest rates and narrower sovereign spreads, and (iii) a positive impact from the reinsurance transaction in Hong Kong (+2 points), partly offset by (iv) an increased exposure to Private Equity.

Ratings

Moody's: On June 15, 2021, Moody's Investors Service reaffirmed the 'Aa3' insurance financial strength rating of AXA's principal insurance subsidiaries, with a stable outlook.

Fitch: On May 27, 2021, Fitch Ratings reaffirmed the financial strength rating of AXA's core operating subsidiaries at 'AA-', changing the outlook to positive from stable.

S&P: On March 12,2021, S&P Global Ratings reaffirmed the long-term financial strength rating of AXA's core operating subsidiaries at 'AA-', with a stable outlook.

Capital Management

- Announced a share buy-back program, including the immediate launch of up to Euro 1.7 billion, and an intention to launch up to a further Euro 0.5 billion in 2022 to offset earnings dilution from recent disposals³ (November 4, 2021);
- Completion of the combination of Bharti AXA General Insurance Company Limited into ICICI Lombard (September 8, 2021) and the subsequent sale of AXA's shareholding of 17.5 million shares of ICICI Lombard for Euro 0.3 billion (October 7, 2021);
- Announced buy-back of AXA shares to eliminate the dilutive impact of Shareplan 2021 (September 13, 2021);
- Completion of the sale of AXA's insurance operations in the Gulf region for Euro 0.2 billion⁴ (September 7, 2021);
- Announced sale of AXA's insurance operations in Singapore for ca. Euro 0.5 billion⁵ (August 16, 2021);
- Announced transaction between AXA Hong Kong⁶ and Global Atlantic Assurance Limited to reinsure a closed book of whole-life insurance policies (July 12, 2021).

Property & Casualty

Total revenues increased by 5% to Euro 38.5 billion, with growth across most geographies.

Commercial lines revenues increased by 7% to Euro 25.5 billion, mainly from positive price effects⁷ (+7%).

This strong growth in revenues was mainly driven by (i) AXA XL (+6%), mostly from continued favorable price effects (+11%) and the recovery of clients' turnover, partly offset by disciplined exposure reduction, in both Insurance, notably in Property lines, and Reinsurance, notably in Property Cat, (ii) France (+12%), driven by higher volumes, increased client activity and positive price effects, and (iii) Europe (+4%), mostly from favorable price effects.

At AXA XL, price increases on renewals⁷ remained strong over the first nine months,+15% in Insurance and +9% in Reinsurance, broadly in line with the price increases recorded in the first half of the year.

• **Personal lines** revenues were stable at Euro 13.0 billion, with (i) higher revenues in non-Motor (+4%) across all geographies, mostly from higher volumes and favorable price effects, offset by (ii) lower revenues in Motor (-2%), mainly in Europe from a less favorable mix, and in China from unfavorable price effects related to a change in regulation.

Hurricane Ida made landfall in the U.S. on August 29, 2021, impacting the state of Louisiana and subsequently Northeastern states of the U.S. At this stage, management estimates that AXA XL may pay claims charges associated with this event of ca. Euro 0.4 billion, before tax and net of reinsurance.

Health

Total revenues increased by 4% to Euro 11.5 billion, with growth across most geographies.

- **Group business** was up 5% to Euro 5.4 billion, mainly driven by (i) France (+6%) mostly from higher volumes in International lines, (ii) Mexico (+18%) with favorable price effects and higher volumes, as well as (iii) Europe (+4%) with growth in all countries.
- **Individual business** was up 3% to Euro 6.1 billion, mainly from (i) Europe (+4%) across most countries, and (ii) Mexico (+12%) from positive price and volume effects, partly offset by (iii) Asia (-4%) following the non-repeat of a digital partnership in China.

Life & Savings

Total revenues increased by 12% to Euro 24.5 billion, driven by strong revenue growth (i) in France (+22%) from higher sales in Individual Savings across Unit-Linked and Eurocroissance capital light G/A products⁸, as well as in Group Savings, including a large G/A capital light contract⁹ in 3Q21, and (ii) in Asia (+16%), primarily from Japan reflecting higher sales of a capital light G/A single premium whole-life product and Protection with Unit-Linked products, as well as from Hong Kong. This was partly offset by Italy (-18%), from lower sales in traditional G/A products and a shift in business mix towards pure investment contracts (which are not recognized in IFRS gross revenues).

Net flows amounted to Euro +4.5 billion, driven by (i) Protection (Euro +2.9 billion) mostly in Asia and France, (ii) Health¹⁰ (Euro +2.4 billion) with net inflows across all geographies, and (iii) Unit-Linked (Euro+1.9 billion) most notably in France and in Europe, partly offset by (iv) G/A Savings (Euro -2.7 billion) driven by strong outflows in traditional G/A (Euro -4.1 billion) across geographies, in line with our strategy.

New Business Value^{10,11} increased by 13% to Euro 2.0 billion, with **APE**^{10,11} (**new business volume**) up 11%, following strong business growth in (i) Asia (+34%), mostly in Japan and Hong Kong from higher sales in Protection, and (ii) France (+17%) from Health with higher sales in International lines as well as from Unit-Linked. This was partly offset by the non-repeat of exceptionally high sales in Switzerland through the semi-autonomous model in 1Q20. **NBV margin**^{10,11} was up 0.7 point to 46.0%.

Asset Management

Total Asset Management revenues grew by 17% to Euro 1,073 million, driven by higher management fees from both higher assets under management and an improved business mix, as well as higher performance fees.

Asset Management net inflows amounted to Euro +13 billion, with (i) strong inflows from third-party clients (Euro +11 billion) from both AXA IM Core and AXA IM Alts, as well as (ii) inflows in Asian JVs (Euro

+7 billion) mainly in Retail, partly offset by (iii) outflows from AXA Insurance companies (Euro -5 billion), including the impact of the reinsurance transaction in AXA Hong Kong⁶ (Euro -4 billion).

Average assets under management¹² amounted to Euro 761 billion, up 6%, mostly driven by strong net inflows and favorable market effects since 2H20.

DEFINITIONS

Preferred segments: includes Health, P&C Commercial lines and Protection, as set out in the 2017 Investor Day presentation on November 14, 2017.

France: includes insurance activities, banking activities and holdings in France.

Europe: includes Switzerland (insurance activities), Germany (insurance activities, holdings and banking until its disposal on December 31, 2020), Belgium (insurance activities and holdings), United Kingdom and Ireland (insurance activities and holdings), Spain (insurance activities), Italy (insurance activities).

AXA XL : includes insurance activities and holdings.

Asia: includes insurance activities in Japan (including the P&C business which was previously reported under "Asia-Direct") and holding, Hong Kong, Asia High Potentials of which (i) Thailand P&C, Indonesia L&S (excluding the bancassurance entity) and China P&C are fully consolidated, and (ii) China L&S, Thailand L&S, the Philippines L&S and Indonesia L&S bancassurance businesses are consolidated under the equity method and contribute only to the underlying earnings¹³ and net income, and South Korea - Direct, and Asia Holdings.

International: consists of (i) AXA Mediterranean Holdings, (ii) EME-LATAM, which includes Mexico (insurance activities), Colombia (insurance activities), Turkey (insurance activities and holdings), Poland (insurance activities until September 2020 as disposed on October 15, 2020), the Gulf Region (insurance activities until June 2021 as disposed on September 7, 2021), AXA Bank Belgium (banking activities held for sale), Luxembourg (insurance activities and holdings), Brazil (insurance activities and holdings), Czech Republic and Slovakia L&S (insurance activities until September 2020 as disposed on October 15, 2020) and Greece (insurance activities until March 2021 as disposed on May 31, 2021) which are fully consolidated, as well as Russia (Reso) (insurance activities) which is consolidated under the equity method and contributes only to the underlying earnings and net income, and (iii) Africa & Asia, which includes Singapore (insurance activities held for sale) which are fully consolidated, as well as India (P&C insurance activities and holdings), Morocco (insurance activities and holdings) and Malaysia P&C (insurance activities and holdings), which are fully consolidated, as well as India (P&C insurance activities and holdings) which are fully consolidated under the equity method and contributes only to the underlying earnings and net income as 2, 2021, L&S insurance activities and holdings) and Nigeria (insurance activities and holdings) which are consolidated under the equity method and contribute only to the underlying earnings and net income.

Transversal & Central Holdings: includes AXA Investment Managers, AXA Assistance, AXA Liabilities Managers, AXA Global Re, AXA Life Europe, Architas (previously reported under "UK & Ireland"), AXA S.A. and other Central Holdings.

NOTES

- ¹ Change in gross revenues is on a comparable basis (constant forex, scope and methodology).
- ² The Solvency II ratio is estimated primarily using AXA's internal model calibrated based on an adverse 1/200 years shock. It also includes a theoretical amount for dividends accrued for the first nine months of 2021, based on the full year dividend paid in 2021 for FY20. Dividends are proposed by the Board at its discretion based on a variety of factors described in AXA's Universal Registration Document for the year ended December 31, 2020 and then submitted to AXA's shareholders for approval. This estimate should not be considered in any way to be an indication of the actual dividend amount, if any, for the 2021 financial year. For further information on AXA's internal model and Solvency II disclosures, please refer to AXA Group's Solvency and Financial Condition Report (SFCR) as of December 31, 2020, available on AXA's website (www.axa.com).
- ³ The immediate launch of a share buy-back of up to Euro 1.7 billion is expected to commence on or about November 8, 2021. Recent disposals refer to the disposals announced after December 1, 2020 and include Greece, Malaysia and Singapore. For further details, please refer to the press release issued on November 4, 2021 related to the share buy-back program.
- ⁴ The sale of AXA's 50% shareholding in AXA Gulf and its 34% shareholding in AXA Cooperative Insurance Company (in Saudi Arabia) was closed on September 7, 2021. AXA's 28% shareholding in AXA Green Crescent Insurance Company (in UAE) was closed on September 13, 2021.
- ⁵ 1 Euro = USD 1.1800 as of August 13, 2021 (Source: Bloomberg).
- ⁶ "AXA Hong Kong" refers to AXA China Region Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited and AXA China Region Insurance Company Limited.
- Price effect is calculated as a percentage of total gross written premiums in the prior year. Price increases on renewals are calculated as a percentage of renewable premiums.
- ⁸ General Account. Capital light products are G/A Savings products which, at inception, create more EOF than the economic capital they consume.
- ⁹ Revenues of Euro 316 million from the large G/A capital light contract.
- ¹⁰ Life & Savings net flows, APE, NBV, and NBV margin include Health "life-like" business.
- ¹¹ Annual premium equivalent (APE), NBV, and NBV margin are non-GAAP financial measures. APE, NBV, and NBV margin and other non-GAAP financial measures are defined in the Glossary set forth on pages 60 to 67 of the Half-Year 2021 Financial Report.
- ¹² Excludes the contribution from Asian joint ventures, which are consolidated under the equity method.
- ¹³ Underlying earnings is a non-GAAP financial measure, or alternative performance measure ("APM"). A reconciliation from the APM underlying earnings to the most directly reconcilable line item, subtotal or total in the financial statements of the corresponding period is provided on pages 19 and 20 of AXA's Half-Year 2021 Financial Report. The above mentioned and other non-GAAP financial measures used in this press release are defined in the Glossary set forth on pages 60 to 67 of AXA's Half-Year 2021 Financial Report.

All comments and changes are on a comparable basis for activity indicators (constant forex, scope and methodology). Most significant changes in scope are as mentioned below:

- (i) The change in gross revenues, APE and NBV on comparable basis excludes the contribution from Central and Eastern Europe for the first nine months of 2020.
- (ii) The change in gross revenues, APE and NBV on comparable basis excludes the contribution from Greece for second and third quarters of 2020.
- (iii) The change in gross revenues, APE and NBV on comparable basis excludes the contribution from the Gulf region for the third quarter of 2020.

Actuarial and financial assumptions are not updated on a quarterly basis in NBV calculation. Actuarial and other financial assumptions will be updated at year-end 2021.

Please note that figures and information in AXA's nine months disclosures are not subject to completion or limited review of an audit procedure by AXA's statutory auditors.

EXCHANGE RATES

For 1 Euro	End of Period Exchange rate		Average Exchange rate		
	FY20	9M21	9M20	9M21	
USD	1.22	1.16	1.12	1.20	
CHF	1.08	1.08	1.07	1.09	
GBP	0.90	0.86	0.89	0.86	
JPY	126	129	121	130	
HKD	9.49	9.02	8.72	9.29	

Gross revenues	Total ^{i,ii}			Property	o/w y & Casualty	o/w Health		
in Euro million	9M20	9M21	Change on a reported basis	Change on a comparable basis	9M21	Change on a comparable basis	9M21	Change on a comparable basis
France	18,458	21,084	+14%	+14%	5,858	+7%	3,879	+5%
Europe	25,552	25,471	0%	+1%	13,677	+1%	4,546	+4%
Switzerland	4,717	4,526	-4%	+2%	3,143	+1%	47	+62%
Germany	8,516	8,764	+3%	+3%	3,642	+2%	2,679	+4%
Belgium	2,513	2,584	+3%	+3%	1,684	+4%	106	+14%
UK & Ireland	4,036	4,140	+3%	+1%	2,708	0%	1,432	+2%
Spain	1,884	1,996	+6%	+6%	1,222	-2%	200	+7%
Italy	3,886	3,460	-11%	-11%	1,278	+3%	82	+13%
AXA XL	13,960	14,349	+3%	+6%	14,216	+6%	-	-
Asia	8,181	8,345	+2%	+8%	1,539	-1%	1,673	-4%
Japan	4,053	4,267	+5%	+13%	333	0%	1,081	+1%
Hong Kong	2,898	2,932	+1%	+8%	192	+1%	489	-3%
Asia High Potentials	773	656	-15%	-15%	524	-9%	103	-40%
South Korea - Direct	458	489	+7%	+7%	489	+7%	-	-
International	5,033	4,350	-14%	+8%	2,268	+9%	1,207	+10%
o/w EME-LATAM	4,033	3,277	-19%	+7%	1,666	+7%	1,064	+13%
o/w Africa & Asia	1,000	1,074	+7%	+9%	602	+14%	142	-5%
Transversal	2,200	2,369	+8%	+13%	959	+10%	152	+11%
Total	73,385	75,969	+4%	+7%	38,516	+5%	11,457	+4%

i ii

o/w Preferred Segment revenues amounted to Euro 48,174 million in 9M21 and Euro 47,257 million in 9M20 (+6% on comparable basis).

Including Banking (Euro 401 million in 9M21 and Euro 372 million in 9M20).

	Personal							Comm	Commercial		
in Euro million	Personal Motor	Change	Personal Non-Motor	Change	Total Personal	Change	Commercial Motor	Change	Commercial Non-Motor	Chan	
France	1,537	+2%	1,544	+4%	3,081	+3%	629	+14%	2,148	+11	
Europe	4,848	-2%	3,014	+3%	7,862	0%	1,098	-1%	4,716	+5%	
Switzerland	1,055	-2%	550	+6%	1,605	+1%	103	-6%	1,436	+2%	
Germany	979	-3%	1,159	+3%	2,138	0%	133	+1%	1,372	+4%	
Belgium	487	+1%	390	+3%	877	+2%	209	+5%	597	+7%	
UK & Ireland	1,038	-3%	427	-3%	1,465	-3%	451	-5%	792	+8%	
Spain	641	-5%	244	+3%	886	-3%	44	+8%	292	0%	
Italy	648	0%	244	+3%	892	+1%	159	+5%	227	+9%	
AXA XL	-	-	-	-	-	-	233	-8%	13,983	+7%	
Asia	1,063	-7%	225	+18%	1,288	-3%	100	+12%	151	+14	
Japan	315	0%	18	-3%	333	0%	-	-	-	-	
Hong Kong	31	+1%	51	-10%	82	-7%	12	+45%	98	+3%	
Asia High Potentials	335	-22%	49	+71%	384	-16%	88	+8%	53	+41	
South Korea - Direct	382	+3%	107	+25%	489	+7%	-	-	-	-	
International	583	+2%	167	+7%	750	+3%	489	+13%	1,029	+11	
o/w EME-LATAM	329	+2%	142	+13%	470	+5%	392	+1%	803	+12	
o/w Africa & Asia	255	+2%	25	-17%	280	0%	97	+125%	226	+99	
Transversal	-	-	-	-	-	-	367	+15%	518	+80	
Total	8,031	-2%	4,950	+4%	12,982	0%	2,916	+6%	22,544	+7	

APPENDIX 2: PROPERTY & CASUALTY - REVENUE CONTRIBUTION & GROWTH BY BUSINESS LINE

Personal lines net new contracts amounted to -61k, driven by International (-110k) in Personal Motor, mostly free partly offset by higher sales in Morocco and Mexico, and Asia (-100k) mainly driven by a voluntary business m Thailand, as well as in China following the change in Motor regulation. This is partly offset by Europe (+83k) most litaly in both Motor and Household and France (+66k) from successful commercial campaigns.

APPENDIX 3: PROPERTY & CASUALTY - PRICE EFFECT

Property & Casualty: Price effect by country and business line				
9M21 (in %)	Personal lines	Commercial lines ⁱ		
France	+0.3%	+3.4%		
Europe	+0.6%	+2.8%		
Switzerland	-0.7%	+0.4%		
Germany	+2.6%	+2.3%		
Belgium	+2.4%	+3.5%		
UK & Ireland	-2.1%	+6.7%		
Spain	+2.0%	+2.3%		
Italy	-0.5%	+1.9%		
AXA XL ⁱⁱ		+12.8%		
Insurance ⁱⁱ	-	+15.3%		
Reinsurance ⁱⁱ	-	+8.9%		
Asia	-4.2%	-0.2%		
Japan	+2.0%	-		
Hong Kong	+0.3%	+1.5%		
Asia High Potentials	-16.9%	-1.8%		
South Korea - Direct	+2.8%	-		
International	-0.9%	-0.1%		
Transversal	-	+0.2%		
Total	-0.1%	+7.1%		

i Renewals only, price effect calculated as a percentage of total premiums in the prior year.

ii Renewals only, price effect calculated as a percentage of renewable premiums.

APPENDIX 4: LIFE & SAVINGS - REVENUE CONTRIBUTION & GROWTH BY BUSINESS LINE

Gross revenues	Total ⁱ			o/w Protection	o/w G/A Savi		
in Euro million	9M21	Change on a comparable basis	9M21	Change on a comparable basis	9M21	Chang compara	
France	11,197	+22%	3,524	+6%	3,911	+2	
Europe	7,249	-3%	3,227	0%	2,585	-9	
Asia	5,133	+16%	4,089	+8%	747	+5	
AXA XL	134	0%	73	-3%	61	+4	
International	625	+1%	344	-4%	215	+(
Transversal	185	+7%	-	-	-		
Total	24,523	+12%	11,258	+5%	7,519	+1	

APPENDIX 5: LIFE & SAVINGS - NEW BUSINESS VOLUME (APE), VALUE (NBV) AND NBV MARGIN

	APE 9M21 by product						Total APE						
in Euro million	Protection	Change ⁱ	G/A Savings	Change ⁱ	ⁱ Unit-Linke	∍d Change ⁱ	Health ⁱⁱ	Change ⁱ	MF & other	Change ⁱ	9M20	9M21	Change ⁱ
France	329	-27%	420	+32%	394	+39%	639	+37%	1	-	1,475	1,783	+17%
Europe	552	-28%	219	-2%	208	+18%	97	0%	20	-15%	1,299	1,096	-15%
Switzerland	432	-33%	0	-	1	-	1	-	-	-	661	434	-33%
Germany	53	-3%	102	+10%	18	+10%	96	0%	13	-	275	284	+3%
Belgium	14	-21%	19	+9%	4	-	-	-	-	-	60	38	-37%
Spain	30	+15%	7	-	41	+53%			7	-	66	84	+28%
Italy	23	-2%	90	-15%	144	+35%	-	-	-	-	236	257	+9%
Asia	802	+43%	277	+27%	34	+34%	174	+12%	-	-	1,004	1,287	+34%
Japan	374	+45%	34	-	-	-	90	+8%	-	-	370	498	+44%
Hong Kong	252	+82%	6	-	26	-	31	+14%	-	-	202	315	+66%
Asia High Potentials	175	+8%	237	+17%	8	-	54	+17%	-	-	432	474	+11%
International	65	+11%	5	-	39	+40%	8	-		-	143	117	+15%
o/w EME-LATAM	25	+12%	2	-	7	-	0	/	-	-	76	34	+12%
o/w Africa & Asia	41	+10%	2	-	32	+45%	8	-	-	-	68	83	+16%
Total	1,748	-4%	920	+20%	675	+31%	918	+26%	21	-20%	3,921	4,283	+11%

i Changes are on a comparable basis (constant forex, scope and methodology).

ii Only includes "life-like" Health business.

APPENDIX 6: LIFE & SAVINGS - NET FLOWS

Net flowsⁱ by country/region

in Euro billion	9M20	9M21
France	+1.5	+2.1
Europe	+0.1	-0.3
AXA XL	-0.2	-0.2
Asia	+2.6	+2.6
International	+0.3	+0.2
Transversal	+0.1	0.0
Total Life & Savings net flows	+4.3	+4.5

Net flowsⁱ by business line

in Euro billion	9M20	9M21
Protection	+3.1	+2.9
Health	+2.9	+2.4
G/A Savings	-2.9	-2.7
o/w capital light ⁱⁱ	+0.3	+1.4
o/w traditional G/A	-3.2	-4.1
Unit-Linked	+1.2	+1.9
Mutual Funds & Other	0.0	0.0
Total Life & Savings net flows	+4.3	+4.5

i Life & Savings net flows include Health "life-like" business.

ii G/A Savings products which, at inception, create more EOF than the economic capital they consume.

APPENDIX 7: ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT ROLLFORWARD

A	Assets under Management rollforward				
in Euro billion	ΑΧΑ ΙΜ	AXA consol			
AUM as of December 31, 2020	858				
Net flows	13				
Market appreciation	10				
Scope & other	-3				
Forex impact	1				
AUM as of September 30, 2021	879				

Average AUM over the period ⁱ	-	
Change of average AUM on a reported basis vs. 9M 2020	-	
Change of average AUM on a comparable basis vs. 9M 2020	-	

i Average AUM for AXA IM is calculated excluding the contribution from Asian joint ventures.

APPENDIX 8: OTHER

Changes in scope:

- 15/10/2020 AXA has completed the sale of its operations in Central and Eastern Europe for Euro 1.0 billion
- 31/05/2021 AXA has completed the sale of its insurance operations in Greece
- 07/09/2021 AXA has completed the sale of its insurance operations in the Gulf region
- 08/09/2021 AXA and Bharti have completed the combination of their non-life operations in India into ICICI Lombard

Main press releases issued in 3Q21

Please refer to the following web site address for further details: https://www.axa.com/en/newsroom/press-releases

- 02/08/2021 Half Year 2021 Earnings
- 02/08/2021 AXA's Board of Directors proposes the renewal of Thomas Buberl's term as Chief Executive Officer
- 16/08/2021 AXA to sell its insurance operations in Singapore for USD 0.6 billion
- 23/08/2021 AXA launches its 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021)
- 13/09/2021 Elimination of the dilutive impact of Shareplan 2021
- 29/09/2021 AXA Future Risks Report 2021: Climate change and cyber risk top the list of concerns

Post 9M21 closing event

- 12/10/2021 AXA announces the Subscription Prices for its 2021 employee share offering (Shareplan 2021)
- 14/10/2021 AXA announces a plan to fight against deforestation to preserve biodiversity
- 29/10/2021 AXA extends its Oil and Gas exclusions to support the energy transition
- 04/11/2021 AXA launches a share buy-back program for up to Euro 1.7 billion

9M21 Operations on AXA shareholders' equity and debt:

Shareholders' equity: no significant operation

Debt:

 01/04/2021 – AXA announced the successful placement of Euro 1 billion of subordinated green bonds due 2041

Next main investor events

- 24/02/2022 Full Year 2021 Earnings Release
- 05/05/2022 First quarter 2022 Activity Indicators"

Results of the AXA Group employee share offering in 2021

On August 23, 2021 AXA announced the launch of its 2021 employee share offering ("Shareplan 2021"), a capital increase reserved to its employees worldwide.

Approximately 21,000 employees in 36 countries, representing nearly 19% of the eligible employees, subscribed to Shareplan 2021.

The aggregate proceeds from the offering amount to nearly Euro 293 million, for a total of approximately 14 million newly-issued shares, subscribed at a price of Euro 18.86 for the classic plan and Euro 21.98 for the leveraged plan. The new shares are created with full rights as of January 1st, 2021. This offering increases the total number of outstanding AXA shares which amounts to 2,432,985,381 on November 26, 2021. In order to eliminate the dilutive effect of the Shareplan 2021 offering, AXA will undertake the cancellation of the shares issued in this context in the next few days¹.

Following Shareplan 2021, AXA's employees hold 4.16% of the share capital and 5.69% of the voting rights.

"We are very happy with the results of our 2021 Shareplan operation. We are proud to uphold this operation as a powerful lever to strengthen the existing links with our teams, by associating them even further to the Group's performance and its long-term successes", said **Thomas Buberl**, CEO of AXA."

¹ As announced in its press release published on September 13, 2021 and in accordance with its share repurchase program as authorized by the Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021.

Execution of a share repurchase agreement in relation to AXA's share buy-back program of up to Euro 1.7 billion as announced on November 4, 2021

As part of the share buy-back program of up to Euro 1.7 billion announced on November 4, 2021, AXA has executed today a share repurchase agreement with an investment services provider, whereby AXA will buy back its own shares for a maximum amount of Euro 1.4 billion¹, in accordance with the terms of its share repurchase program authorized by the General Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021.

The shares repurchased pursuant to this share repurchase agreement will complement the Euro 0.3 billion² of own shares already repurchased by AXA since November 8, 2021, as part of the up to Euro 1.7 billion share buy-back program announced on November 4, 2021.

Under the share repurchase agreement announced today, shares will be bought back commencing on November 29, 2021 and ending at the latest on April 27, 2022. On each day during the purchase period, the price per share to be paid by AXA³ will be determined on the basis of the volume-weighted average share price.

AXA intends to cancel all repurchased shares related to the up to Euro 1.7 billion share buy-back program announced on November 4, 2021."

¹ Euro 1,352,485,260

² Euro 347,514,739.66

³ The purchase price will not exceed the maximum purchase price approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting of April 29, 2021.

AXA has completed the sale of AXA Bank Belgium

AXA announced today that it has completed the sale of its Belgian banking operations, AXA Bank Belgium, to Crelan Bank NV/SA ("Crelan"), for a total consideration¹ of Euro 691 million, comprised of (i) a net cash consideration of Euro 611 million², and (ii) the transfer to AXA Belgium of 100% of Crelan Insurance³ (valued at Euro 80 million).

In addition, AXA and Crelan have entered into a long-term P&C and Protection insurance distribution partnership which will be effective on January 1, 2022, extending the existing partnership between AXA Bank Belgium and AXA Belgium to the entire Crelan network.

"The completion of this transaction marks another step in AXA's simplification journey", said **Thomas Buberl, Chief Executive Officer of AXA**. "We are pleased to maintain strong links with AXA Bank Belgium through this long-term partnership andto further extend it toCrelan's network. I would like to thank the AXA Bank Belgium teams for their continuous contribution and engagement over the years and wish them all the success for the future with Crelan, leveraging on their combined scale and product offering."

The parties have amended their original agreement whereby AXA has today subscribed Additional Tier 1 debt⁴ issued by Crelan for an issue price of Euro 245 million instead of acquiring a minority equity stake of 9.9% in Crelan for Euro 90 million, as communicated at the time of the signing of the transaction. As per the terms of the initial agreement, Crelan has also purchased for Euro 90 million the contingent convertible bonds previously issued by AXA Bank Belgium to AXA Group.

The completion of the transaction is expected to result in a positive impact of 4 points on AXA Group's Solvency II ratio in 4Q21."

¹ In cash terms, AXA S.A. will receive Euro 691 million for the sale of AXA Bank Belgium and AXA Belgium will pay Crelan Euro 80 million for the purchase of Crelan Insurance.

² Including a price adjustment reflecting customary closing conditions.

³ The insurance company of Crelan, providing protection insurance linked to loans originated by Crelan.

⁴ Perpetual debt callable in 2027, subscribed by both AXA S.A. and AXA Belgium.

Share Capital of the Issuer

As at November 30, 2021, the AXA share capital amounts to € 5,575,504,025.35 and the total number of AXA shares amounts to 2,434,717,915.

TAXATION

The section entitled "*Taxation*" on pages 140 to 143 of the Base Prospectus is incorporated by reference herein.

SELLING RESTRICTIONS

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG and Natixis (the **Global Coordinators**) and Barclays Bank Ireland PLC, BofA Securities Europe SA, Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft and J.P. Morgan AG (together with the Global Coordinators, the **Joint Lead Managers**) have jointly and severally agreed, pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated January 6, 2022 (the **Subscription Agreement**), subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe or procure subscribers for the Notes at the issue price of 99.271 per cent. of the principal amount of Notes, less a combined management and underwriting commission as agreed between the Joint Lead Managers and the Issuer. The Subscription Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances prior to payment to the Issuer.

Selling Restrictions

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from, or not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act (**Regulation S**).

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and regulations thereunder.

Each Joint Lead Manager has agreed that, except as permitted by the amended and restated programme agreement dated March 26, 2021 (the **Programme Agreement**), it will not offer, sell or deliver the Notes (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the Closing Date, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons, and it will have sent to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of the Notes, an offer or sale of Notes within the United States by a dealer that is not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Prohibition of Sales to European Economic Area Retail Investors

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available the Notes to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

(a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (MiFID II); or

(b) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the **Insurance Distribution Directive**), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II.

United Kingdom

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that:

- (a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the **FSMA**)) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Prohibition of Sales to United Kingdom Retail Investors

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available the Notes to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

- (a) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (**EUWA**); or
- (b) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, where that customer would not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of UK domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.

Belgium

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that the offering of the Notes may not be advertised to any individual in Belgium qualifying as a consumer within the meaning of Article I.1 of the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (a **Belgian Consumer**) and that it has not offered, sold or resold, transferred or delivered, and will not offer, sell, resell, transfer or deliver, the Notes, and that it has not distributed, and will not distribute, any prospectus, memorandum, information circular, brochure or any similar documents in relation to the Notes, directly or indirectly, to any Belgian Consumer.

Hong Kong

This Prospectus has not been approved by or registered with the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong or the Registrar of Companies of Hong Kong.

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed, that:

- (a) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes (except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO) other than (a) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under that Ordinance or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of that Ordinance; and
- (b) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to the Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under that Ordinance.

Singapore

Each Joint Lead Manager has acknowledged, that this Prospectus nor any other marketing materials relating to the Notes have not been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the Notes will be offered pursuant to exemptions under the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the **SFA**). Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused such Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not offer or sell such Notes or cause such Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Prospectus or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of such Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

- (c) securities or securities based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA except:
 - 1. to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the SFA;
 - 2. where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
 - 3. where the transfer is by operation of law;
 - 4. as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or
 - 5. as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments)(Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018 of Singapore.

Singapore SFA Product Classification: Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the SFA, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA) that the Notes are "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and "Excluded Investment Products" (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

General

Neither the Issuer nor any Joint Lead Manager makes any representation that any action has been taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of the Prospectus or any other offering material, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented and agreed that it has and will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes this Prospectus or any other offering material and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and neither the Issuer nor any of the other Joint Lead Managers shall have any responsibility therefore.

None of the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Authorisation

The issue of the Notes has been authorised by a decision of Thomas Buberl, Chief Executive Officer of the Issuer, on January 5, 2022 pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors (Conseil d'Administration) of the Issuer dated February 24, 2021.

Approval, Listing and Admission to Trading of the Notes

Application has been made to the CSSF to approve this document as a prospectus. Application has also been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of the Markets in Financial Instrument Directive 2014/65/EU.

Issue references

The Series Number of the Notes is 44 and the Tranche Number is 1.

Estimate total expenses

The estimate of the total expenses related to the admission to trading of the Notes is EUR 12,800.

Yield

The yield in respect of the Notes until the First Reset Date is 1.953 per cent. *per annum* and is calculated on the basis of the issue price of the Notes. It is not an indication of future yield.

Documents available

For so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange's regulated market and listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, copies of the following documents will, when published, be available for inspection from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent:

- (i) the Issuer's *statuts* (bylaws) (with an English translation thereof);
- (i) the Issuer's 2020 and 2019 French Universal Registration Document filed with the AMF respectively on March 22, 2021 and March 19, 2020 and the Issuer's 2021 French Half-Year Financial Report (with English translations thereof);
- the Agency Agreement (including the supplemental agency agreement dated January 10, 2022), the Deed of Covenant and the forms of the Global Notes, the Notes in definitive form, the Coupons and the Talons; and
- (iii) this Prospectus and any future information memoranda and supplements to this Prospectus and any other documents incorporated herein or therein by reference.

In addition, the following document are available on the website of the Issuer:

- (i) the Issuer's *statuts* (bylaws) (with an English translation thereof):
 - a. <u>https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com/92318c17-a49b-42b5-992b-7f40a2065db4_axa_statuts_20211214.pdf</u>
 - b. <u>https://www-axa-com.cdn.axa-contento-118412.eu/www-axa-com/1bd241bb-1817-4ee7-9d84-02aae00ce0ac_axa_bylaws_20211214b.pdf</u>
- (ii) copies of this Prospectus (<u>https://www.axa.com/en/investor/emtn-program</u>); and
- (iii) each document incorporated by reference (see section "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*").

Copies of this Prospectus and all documents incorporated by reference in this Prospectus will be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (<u>www.bourse.lu</u>).

Clearing systems

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream with the Common Code number of 243102944 and with the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) of XS2431029441.

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium and the address of Clearstream is Clearstream Banking, S.A., 42 avenue John Fitzgerald Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg, Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg.

Significant or material adverse change

Except as disclosed in (i) item A.7.7.1 "*Trend information*" of the cross-reference list in the section "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*" on page 35 of this Prospectus, (ii) in the section "*Recent Developments*" on pages 73 to 84 and 87 to 106 of this Prospectus and (iii) the section of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report referred to as "*Activity Report*" in the cross-reference list included in the section "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*" on page 39 of this Prospectus, there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since December 31, 2020 and there has been no significant change in the financial performance of the AXA Group since June 30, 2021.

Except as disclosed in (i) item A.7.11.4 "*Significant change in the issuer's financial position*" of the cross-reference list in the section "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*" on page 39 of this Prospectus, (ii) the section "*Recent Developments*" on pages 73 to 84 and 87 to 106 of this Prospectus and (iii) the section of the 2021 Half-Year Financial Report referred to as "*Activity Report*" in the cross-reference list included in the section "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*" on page 39 of this Prospectus, there has been no significant change in the financial position of the AXA Group since June 30, 2021.

Litigation

Except as disclosed in item A.7.11.3 "*Legal and arbitration proceedings*" of the cross-reference list in the section "*Documents Incorporated by Reference*" on page 38 of this Prospectus, neither the Issuer nor any of its consolidated subsidiaries, is or has been involved in any governmental,

legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this document which may have, or in such period have had, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer and/or the Group.

Information sourced from third parties

Where information in this Prospectus has been sourced from third parties, this information has been correctly reproduced and as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from the information published by such third parties no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third party information is identified where used.

Interest of natural and legal persons involved on the issue

Save for any fees payable to the Joint Lead Managers, so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer.

Auditors

The auditors of the Issuer are PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (63, rue de Villiers, 92208 Neuillysur-Seine, France) and Mazars (61, rue Henri Régnault, 92400 Courbevoie, France), statutory auditors (members of the *Compagnie régionale des commissaires aux comptes de Versailles* and under the authority of the *Haut conseil du commissariat aux comptes*) who have performed an audit on the Issuer's Consolidated Financial Statements, for each of the two financial years ended on December 31, 2020 and 2019, in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in France and rendered audit reports with unqualified opinions thereon and who have reviewed the Issuer's unaudited consolidated interim financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 2021.

Joint Lead Managers transacting with the Issuer

Certain of the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer and their respective affiliates in the ordinary course of business. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may make or hold a broad range of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or Issuer's affiliates. Certain of the Joint Lead Managers or their respective affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially the Notes. Any such short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of the Notes. The Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

Conflicts of Interest

The Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer do not currently carry out any professional activity or hold any directorship outside the AXA Group that the Board believes substantially interfere with or impede in any material way their availability to focus on the AXA Group and its business. Certain members of the Board of Directors, however, are corporate officers and/or executives of companies that may have agreements or enter into transactions from time to time with the AXA Group including furnishing services or goods, providing credit facilities, purchases of securities (for their own account or for third parties), and/or underwriting of securities, and/or product and service providing. These agreements or deals are systematically negotiated and performed at arm's length terms and conditions. Consequently, AXA does not believe that any of these agreements or transactions give rise to any conflicts of interests between (i) the directors' duties towards AXA and (ii) their private interests and/other duties.

To the best of the Issuer's knowledge, there are no agreements or arrangements that have been entered into with major shareholders, customers, suppliers or others pursuant to which a member of the Board of Directors was selected.

Rating of the Issuer

The Issuer and certain of its insurance subsidiaries are rated by recognized rating agencies. The significance and the meaning of individual ratings vary from agency to agency.

At the date of this Prospectus, the relevant ratings for the Issuer and its principal insurance subsidiaries were as follows:

Insurer Financial Strength Ratings			Agency	Rating	Outlook
The Issuer's subsidiaries	•	al insurance	S&P Global Ratings	AA-	Stable outlook
			Moody's Fitch	Aa3 AA-	Stable outlook Positive outlook
Ratings of the Issuer's Long Term					
Counterparty Debt		•	S&P Global Ratings	А	Stable outlook
			Moody's Fitch	A2 A	Stable outlook Positive outlook

The ratings set forth above may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. None of these ratings is an indication of the historical or potential performance of AXA's ordinary shares, ADS, ADR or debt securities and should not be relied upon for the purpose of making an investment decision with respect to any of these securities. The Issuer accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or reliability of the ratings.

S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch are established in the European Union and registered under the CRA Regulation and are included in the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation published on the European Securities and Markets Authority's website as of the date of this Prospectus⁹.

⁹ http://www.esma.europa.eu/page/List-registered-and-certified-CRAs

AXA (Head Office and Registered Office) Legal entity identifier: F5WCUMTUM4RKZ1MAIE39 25, avenue Matignon 75008 Paris France

PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT

BNP Paribas Securities Services

Luxembourg Branch 60 avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg (Postal address: L-2085) Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

PAYING AND CALCULATION AGENTS

BNP Paribas Securities Services

(affiliated with Euroclear France under number 29106) Les Grands Moulins de Pantin 9, rue du Débarcadère ACI: CKA03D1 93500 Pantin France

BNP Paribas Securities Services

Luxembourg Branch 60 avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg (Postal address: L-2085) Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

GLOBAL COORDINATORS AND JOINT LEAD MANAGERS

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG

Reuterweg 16 60323 Frankfurt am Main Germany **Natixis** 30, avenue Pierre Mendès-France 75013 Paris France

JOINT LEAD MANAGERS

Barclays Bank Ireland PLC

One Molesworth Street Dublin 2 D02RF29 Ireland

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

Mainzer Landstr. 11-17 60329 Frankfurt am Main Germany

BofA Securities Europe SA

51 rue La Boétie 75008 Paris France

J.P. Morgan AG

Taunustor 1 (TaunusTurm) 60310 Frankfurt am Main Germany

LUXEMBOURG LISTING AGENT

BNP Paribas Securities Services

Luxembourg Branch 60 avenue J.F. Kennedy L-1855 Luxembourg (Postal address: L-2085) Grand Duchy of Luxembourg

STATUTORY AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit

63, rue de Villiers 92208 Neuilly sur Seine France

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to English and French law

White & Case LLP

19, place Vendôme 75001 Paris France To the Global Coordinators and Joint Lead Managers as to English and French law **Allen & Overy LLP** 52, avenue Hoche CS 90005 75379 Paris Cedex 08 France